

#### DEFINITIONS

IDA publishes the following documents to report the results of its work.

•

•

#### Reports

Reports are the mest authoritative and most carefully considered products IDA publishes. They normally embedy results of major projects which (a) have a direct bearing on decisions affecting major programs, (b) address issues of significant concern to the Executive Branch, the Congress and/or the public, or (c) address issues that have significant economic implications. IDA Reports are reviewed by outside panels of exparts to ensure their high quality and relevance to the problems studied, and they are released by the President of IDA.

#### **Group Reports**

Group Reports record the findings and results of IDA established working groups and panels composed of sealor individuals addressing major issues which otherwise would be the subject of an IDA Report. IDA Group Reports are reviewed by the senior individuals responsible for the project and others as selected by IDA to ensure their high quality and relevance to the problems studied, and are released by the President of IDA.

#### Papers

Papers, also authoritative and carefully considered products of IDA, address studies that are nervous in scope than these covered in Reports. IDA Papers are reviewed to ensure that they must the high standards expected of refereed papers in professional journals or formal Americy reports.

#### Documents

سه ر

IDA Documents are used for the convenience of the spensors or the analysts (a) to record substantive work done in quick reaction studies, (b) to record the proceedings of conforences and meetings, (c) to make available preliminary and tentative results of analyses, (d) to record data developed in the course of an investigation, or (e) to tervard information that is eccentially unanalysed and unovaluated. The review of IDA Documents is suited to their content and intended use.

The work reported in this document was conducted under contract MDA 903 89 C 0003 for the Department of Defense. The publication of this IDA Paper dees not indicate endersement by the Department of Defense, nor should the contents be construed as reflecting the official publics of that Agency.

This Paper has been reviewed by IDA to assure that it meets the high standards of thereuginess, objectivity, and appropriate analytical methodology and that the results, conclusions and recommendations are properly supported by the meterial presented.

This paper does not necessarily represent the views of the Joint Chiefs of Staff for when it was propared and to whom it is forwarded as independent advice and opinion.

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

REPORT DOCUM		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188			
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estima maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington H VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, I	ted to average 1 hour per response, in collection of information. Send comm adquarters Services, Directorate for in Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-018	cluding the time for revie nents regarding this burd formation Operations an 88), Washington, DC 201	wing instructions, searchin ion estimate or any other a id Reports, 1215 Jefferson 503.	g existing data sources, gathering and ispect of this collection of information, Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington,	
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leeve blank)	2. REPORT DATE October 1989	3. 5	REPORT TYPE AND	DATES COVERED	
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Heterogeneous Point Fire and Area F Explicitly Consider Various Types of N Coordination	ire Attrition Processes to Iunitions and Levels of	hat	5. FUNDING NUMBERS C-MDA 903 89 C 0003 TA-T-16-682		
5. AUTHOR(S) Lowell Bruce Anderson					
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) A Institute for Defense Analyses 1801 N. Beauregard Street Alexandria, VA 22311	ND ADDRESS(ES)		8. PERFORMING REPORT NUMI IDA Paper P-2	ORGANIZATION BER 2249	
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAL Joint Chiefs of Staff Director for Force Structure, Resource The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301-5000		10. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER			
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES					
12a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMI Approved for public release; distrib		12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE			
13. ABSTRACT (Meximum 200 words) This paper describes attrition struct of coordination among the shooters for various types of munitions by various fire, (4) prevent unreasonably high nu area fire, and (5) allow meaningful allo against various types of targets for po coordination except one (shoot-look-s companion paper discusses some de	tures that (1) consider t or both area fire and poi types of shooters again mbers of kills by assum ocations of fire by variou int fire. For each type of hoot fire), the precise for tails concerning shoot-k	both area fire a nt fire, (3) allow ast various type ning a maximun us types of sho of fire (area or p orm of the corre bok-shoot fire.	nd point fire, (2) v the explicit con s of targets for b n density of targe oters using vario point) and for ead esponding attritic	consider various levels sideration of the use of both area fire and point ets in the target area fo ous types of munitions ch relevant level of on equation is given. A	
14. SUBJECT TERMS Lanchester Equations, Deterministic I Aggregated Combat Model 4	Modeling of Attrition, Dy	namic Simulati	on of Warfare,	15. NUMBER OF PAGES 104 16. PRICE CODE	
7. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 18. SEC OF REPORT OF T Unclassified	URITY CLASSIFICATION HIS PAGE Unclassified	19. SECURITY OF ABSTRA Uncla	CLASSIFICATION ACT ssified	20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT UL	
ISN 7540-01-280-5500		<b></b>	S P 2	Nandard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89) Hescribed by ANSI Std. 239-18 98-102	

# IDA PAPER P-2249

.

# HETEROGENEOUS POINT FIRE AND AREA FIRE ATTRITION PROCESSES THAT EXPLICITLY CONSIDER VARIOUS TYPES OF MUNITIONS AND LEVELS OF COORDINATION

Lowell Bruce Anderson

October 1989





the set

INSTITUTE FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES

Contract MDA 903 89 C 0003 Task T-I6-682

# PREFACE

This paper was prepared under IDA contract MDA 903 89 C 0003, Task Order T-I6-682, Net Assessment Methodologies and Critical Data Elements for Strategic and Theater Force Comparisons, for the Capabilities Assessment Division of the Force Structure, Resource, and Assessment Directorate (J-8) of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, and has been written in partial fulfillment of the above Task Order.

This paper describes attrition structures that (1) consider both area and point fire, (2) consider various levels of coordination among shooters, (3) allow explicit consideration of the use of multiple types of munitions, (4) limit the maximum density of targets for area fire, and (5) allow meaningful allocations of fire for point fire. The precise forms of the resulting attrition equations are given.

The author is grateful to Dr. Peter S. Brooks, Dr. Frederic A. Miercort, and Ms. Eleanor L. Schwartz for their quite helpful reviews of this paper. Mrs. Marcia Kostelnick also contributed her valuable time and efforts to preparing the typed manuscript.

# ABSTRACT

This paper describes attrition structures that (1) consider both area fire and point fire, (2) consider various levels of coordination among the shooters for both area fire and point fire, (3) allow the explicit consideration of the use of various types of munitions by various types of shooters against various types of targets for both area fire and point fire, (4) prevent unreasonably high numbers of kills by assuming a maximum density of targets in the target area for area fire, and (5) allow meaningful allocations of fire by various types of shooters using various types of munitions against various types of targets for point fire. For each type of fire (area or point) and for each relevant level of coordination except one (shoot-look-shoot fire), the precise form of the corresponding attrition equation is given. A companion paper discusses some details concerning shoot-look-shoot fire.

# CONTENTS

PRE	EFA	СЕ	iii
ABS	STR	ACT	v
A.	IN	TRODUCTION	1
	1.	Purpose	1
	2.	Background	2
	3.	Organization	3
<b>B</b> .	A	TAXONOMY FOR ATTRITION EQUATIONS	4
С.	NC	DTATION	.10
	1.	Notation Common to all Types of Fire	10
	2.	Notation Concerning Point Fire	10
		a. General Point-Fire Notation	. 10
		b. Point-Fire Notation Without Munitions	.11
		c. Point-Fire Notation With Munitions	12
	3.	Notation Concerning Area Fire	16
		a. General Area-Fire Notation	16
		b. Area-Fire Notation Without Munitions	18
		c. Area-Fire Notation With Munitions	. 19
	4.	Notation Concerning Functions	21
D.	PC	DINT-FIRE ATTRITION EQUATIONS	21
	1.	Point-Fire Equations That do not Consider Munitions	21
		a. A General Form for Calculating Point-Fire Attrition	21
		b. Uncoordinated Fire	22
		c. Preallocated Fire	23
		d. Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types, Uncoordinated Fire Across Shooter Types	24
		e. Coordinated Fire Across all Shooter Types	25
		(1) Even Distribution of Fire by Numbers of Engagements	26
		(2) Proportional Distribution of Fire by Potential Kills	29
		f. Shoot-Look-Shoot Fire	33
	2.	Point-Fire Equations That Explicitly Consider Munitions	33
		a. A General Form for Calculating Point-Fire Attrition	34
		b. Uncoordinated Fire	34
		c. Preallocated Fire	35

		d.	Partiz Unco	ally or Completely Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types, pordinated Fire Across Shooter Types	36
			(1)	Coordinated Fire Only Within Both Shooter and Munition Types	36
			(2)	Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types but Across all Munitions Used by Each Type of Shooter	36
		e.	Coor	rdinated Fire Across all Shooter Types	38
			(1)	Even Distribution of Fire by Numbers of Engagements	39
			(2)	Proportional Distribution of Fire by Potential Kills	40
		f.	Shoo	ot-Look-Shoot Fire	41
E.	AF	REA	-FIR	RE ATTRITION EQUATIONS	41
	1.	Аг	ea-Fi	re Equations That do not Consider Munitions	43
		a.	Unco	oordinated Fire	43
		b.	Coor Acro	rdinated Fire Within Shooter Types, Uncoordinated Fire	44
		c.	Coor	rdinated Fire Across all Shooter Types	46
	2.	Ar	ea-Fir	re Equations That Explicitly Consider Munitions	48
		a.	Unce	oordinated Fire	48
		b.	Parti Unco	ially or Completely Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types, oordinated Fire Across Shooter Types	49
			(1)	Coordinated Fire Only Within Both Shooter and Munition Types	49
			(2)	Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types but Across all Munitions Used by Each Type of Shooter	50
		c.	Coor	rdinated Fire Across all Shooter Types	52
F.	A	CO	MPR	REHENSIVE MIXED-FIRE ATTRITION EQUATION	53
G.	C( IN	ON TO	VER1	TING UNILATERAL ATTRITION ASSESSMENTS	58
	1.	No	otation	n and Equations	59
	2.	Di	scussi	ion	61
Н.	FI	J <b>TI</b>	IRE	WORK	
•	1	Im	nlem	nentation	
	1.	2	Code	A	<b>0</b> _
		u. h	Com	verting Model Inputs to Attrition Inputs	
		о. с	Fale	se Taraets	
	r	U. Ev	tencio		
	۷.	СX ^		ar Victim Scomboards	00 
		а. ь		er-vicuin Scoreboards	00
		ΰ.	Sup	pression	00

с.	Damage
d.	Movement/Attrition Tradeoffs
e.	Non-identical Area-Fire Regions
REFEREN	<b>CES</b>
APPENDE	K. HOMOGENEOUS SPECIAL CASES

# TABLE

1.	Α	Taxonomy	for	Attrition	Equations	8
----	---	----------	-----	-----------	-----------	---

#### A. INTRODUCTION

#### 1. Purpose

This paper describes unilateral attrition structures that (1) consider both area fire and point fire, (2) consider various levels of coordination among the shooters for both area fire and point fire, (3) allow the explicit consideration of the use of various types of munitions by various types of shooters against various types of targets for both area fire and point fire, (4) prevent unreasonably high numbers of kills by assuming a maximum density of targets in the target area for area fire, and (5) allow meaningful allocations of fire by various types of shooters using various types of munitions against various types of targets for point fire. A general method to convert this unilateral attrition into bilateral attrition is also discussed.

For each type of fire (area or point) and for each relevant level of coordination (except for shoot-look-shoot fire), this paper gives the precise form of the corresponding attrition equation. (Formulas concerning shoot-look-shoot fire are discussed in Reference [14].) This paper does not, however, give a formal statement of specific assumptions for these attrition equations to hold, nor does it give rigorous proofs that these equations follow from such assumptions. Thus, the purpose of this paper is to describe and document these equations sufficiently well so that (1) they can be compared and contrasted with each other and better understood in their own right, (2) they can be used in models, and (3) future research either can determine specific assumptions needed for these equations  $t_{i}$  hold and rigorously derive these equations from such assumptions (if possible), or can determine why these equations do not follow from relevant sets of assumptions (otherwise). To assist such future research, o reall descriptions and relatively extensive plausibility arguments are given for the specific forms of these equations.

All of the attrition equations discussed here are difference equations that allow the time interval to be sufficiently long that multiple kills can occur within that interval. This is the type of attrition equation most commonly used in large-scale deterministic conflict models. See Section A of Chapter V of Reference [8] for a more thorough discussion of this topic.

#### 2. Background

Research has been done on all of the topics discussed in this paper, but those results were neither as general nor as integrated as the results reported here.

A seminal (perhaps *the* seminal) paper in this area is Reference [1]. That paper addresses a number of issues concerning unilateral point and area fire attrition processes, but it also leaves a number of issues unanswered. For example, while it explicitly considers one-on-one probabilities of detection for point fire, it does not provide a tractable method for computing attrition when these probabilities of detection depend on both the types of shooting weapons and the types of targets involved. Also concerning point fire, it does not consider meaningful allocations of fire, it does not explicitly consider munitions, and it considers only two levels of coordination among shooters. Concerning area fire, it does not consider multiple types of either shooters or targets, it does not explicitly consider munitions, and it considers only uncoordinated fire.

Reference [2] discusses computationally tractable approximations for the case where the one-on-one probabilities of detection depend on both the type of shooter and the type of target for point fire. Reference [3] discusses how to incorporate meaningful allocations of fire into the results of Reference [2], and it discusses how to convert multiple unilateral attrition assessments into bilateral attrition (see also Reference [4]). However, Reference [3] considers only uncoordinated point fire; it does not consider area fire and it does not explicitly consider munitions. Reference [5] considers uniformly coordinated point fire, but in a purely homogeneous setting; also, it does not consider area fire and does not consider munitions. Reference [6] considers heterogeneous area fire, but it (implicitly) assumes that there is no coordination among the shooters and it does not consider munitions. (Heterogeneity here means that multiple types of weapons on the side in question can be distinctly simulated; homogeneity means that only one, perhaps notional, type of weapon can be simulated on the given side.) Reference [7] considers an area fire structure with two types of shooters, two types of targets, and (essentially) two levels of coordination among the shooters. However, Reference [7] assumes a "zero-or-one cookiecutter" type of attrition, it does not consider multiple types of munitions for shooting weapons, and it does not adjust the area over which targets are located if (due, say, to other actions in the model) the number of targets is increased.

Reference [8] considers four levels of coordination in a consistent manner within a heterogeneous point-fire structure. Reference [8] achieves this consistency, maintains

relative simplicity, and produces results which appear (in some cases) to rigorously follow from certain sets of assumptions by assuming (implicitly) that the one-on-one probability of detection is unity for all types of shooters and targets. It is frequently quite appropriate to assume that these one-on-one probabilities of detection are all unity in point fire for the following reasons. First, precise data for these probabilities are essentially impossible to obtain, even generally relevant data frequently do not exist. Second, just making the assumption that these probabilities are not very small frequently is essentially equivalent to making the assumption that these probabilities are unity. For example, suppose it is assumed that the probability that a particular shooter detects a particular target is at least 0.1, and suppose that there are 50 or more targets present. Then the probability that a shooter detects one or more targets (and so is able to fire at some target) is at least 0.995. Thus, in this example, if there are 50 or more targets present, there is essentially no difference between using a one-on-one probability of detection of 0.1 and using a one-onone probability of detection of 1.0. Third, using one-on-one probabilities of detection of 1.0 greatly simplifies a significant number of cases. Fourth, engagement rates can be set directly through inputs to the point-fire attrition structures described below, so there is no need for non-unity one-on-one probabilities of detection just to obtain non-unity engagement rates. Finally, engagement rates can be adjusted indirectly through the use of false targets in the point-fire attrition structures described below, so there is no need for non-unity one-on-one probabilities of detection just to lower the engagement rates when facing small numbers of targets.

The results presented below draw upon and extend the results reported in these references.

### 3. Organization

Section B, below, briefly describes the levels of coordination considered in this paper, and it constructs a taxonomy for attrition equations based on these levels of coordination, on whether point fire or area fire is being addressed, and on whether multiple types of munitions are being explicitly considered. Section C introduces some notation needed for the remainder of the paper. Section D discusses point fire attrition structures (with and without the explicit consideration of munitions), and Section E does the same for area fire. Sections D and E both consider heterogeneous shooters versus heterogeneous targets. For ease of comparison, the appendix states some corresponding equations for homogeneous shooters versus homogeneous targets.

Sections D and E describe distinct attrition processes in that each formula in each of those sections assumes that all of the shooters operate at the same level of coordination and use the same type of fire (point or area). Section F considers cases in which some shooters operate at one level of coordination while other shooters operate at a different level of coordination, and some shooters use point fire while others use area fire. Section G discusses how to use the unilateral results of Sections D, E, and F to obtain bilateral attrition. Section G is based on Section B of Reference [3] and Section V.C of Reference [8]; it is included here for completeness only. Section H presents some ideas for implementation and future research.

#### **B. A TAXONOMY FOR ATTRITION EQUATIONS**

The taxonomy described here is based on three characteristics: (1) whether point fire or area fire is being used, (2) whether or not munitions are being explicitly considered, and (3) the level of coordination that is being considered.

The distinction between point fire and area fire here follows an intuitive structure. If a weapon is firing point fire, then it must be engaging a particular target. Weapons may be able to make more than one engagement per time period. However, on any one of its engagements, a shooting weapon can engage and be able to kill only one target, where the probability of killing that target can depend on the type of shooter, type of target, and (if munitions are being addressed) the type of munition involved. Since, in general, shooters are capable of engaging any one of several types of targets, some allocation-of-fire rule is needed to determine how to allocate their engagements over the various types of targets. Further, since several shooters might be able to engage any of several targets, some levelof-coordination rule is also needed to determine the degree of coordination among these shooters.

Conversely, if a weapon is firing area fire, then it is firing into a general area, but not at a particular target. Weapons may be able to fire more than once per time period. Each time a weapon fires into the general area, all of the targets (if any) within the appropriate lethal area of that salvo can be killed, where the size of that lethal area and the probability of kill can depend on the type of shooter, type of targets, and (if munitions are being addressed) type of munition involved. Since, in area fire, shooters are not engaging particular targets, allocation of fire rules are not needed if the targets are all located in the same general area. However, some level-of-coordination rule is needed to determine the degree of coordination among the various shooters that are firing into the general area in question.

The distinction between whether or not munitions are being explicitly considered is, in a sense, purely formal. That is, if the number of types of munitions being addressed is set equal to one, then each of the formulas presented below in which multiple types of munitions are addressed reduces to the corresponding formula in which munitions are not explicitly considered. The reasons for giving both sets of formulas (with and without munitions) are: (1) to facilitate comparisons with previous work that does not consider multiple types of munitions and (2) to facilitate the incorporation of the work presented here into models that do not consider multiple types of munitions.

Several different levels of coordination are considered in this taxonomy. The first and lowest level considered is no coordination at all. For point fire, each shooter for each of its possible engagements selects a target to attack independent of its selection for any other of its engagements and independent of the selections of all other shooters in all of their engagements. For area fire, each shooter for each of its possible salvos selects a target point in the general target area independent of its selection of target points for any other of its salvos and independent of the selections of target points by all other shooters for all of their salvos.

The second level of coordination considered here applies only to point fire. This level of coordination is to preallocate shooters in that each shooter on each of its possible engagements is assigned to attack one and only one type of target, but there is no coordination among the shooters other than this.

For example, suppose that there are two types of shooters, three shooters of each type, two types of targets, four targets of the first type and two of the second type, that each shooter can make one (point-fire) engagement, and that multiple types of munitions are not being considered. Suppose that the allocation of fire for this case is to be that, on average, two-thirds of each type of shooter will fire at the first type of target and one-third of the second type of target. Then this average can be achieved in the completely uncoordinated case if each shooter selects one of the six targets to attack according to a uniform distribution independently of the selection of the other shooters. This means that with probability  $(2/3)^6$  no shooters will attack targets of type two. Indeed, with the very small (but non-zero) probability of  $(1/6)^5$ , all of the shooters will attack the same target, leaving all of the other five targets unengaged. However, with preallocated fire in this

5

example, exactly two shooters of each type are assigned to attack some target of type one, and exactly one shooter of each type is assigned to attack some target of type two. Since no coordination is assumed beyond this assignment, this means that with probability 1/4 both of the shooters of type one that are assigned to attack a target of type one will attack the same target.

The third level of coordination considered here applies to both point and area fire. If multiple types of munitions are not being considered, this level of coordination assumes the following. For point fire, each shooter of each type coordinates with all other shooters of that type to allocate their fire in a uniform manner over the targets of the type they are assigned to attack, but no shooters of different types can coordinate their fire. For area fire, each shooter of each type coordinates with all other shooters of that type to allocate their fire in a uniform manner over the target of that type to allocate their fire. For area fire, each shooter of each type coordinates with all other shooters of that type to allocate their fire in a uniform manner over the target area, but no shooters of different types can coordinate their fire. When multiple types of munitions are addressed, there are two possible levels of coordination here for both point and area fire. In the first of these levels, weapons of the same type only coordinate when they are using munitions of the same type. In the second of these two levels, weapons of the same type always coordinate no matter what anunitions they are using. (Again, there is no coordination among weapons of different types.)

Continuing with the example above, under this coordination-within-weapon-type case for point fire, the two shooters of type one that are assigned to engage targets of type one must engage different targets. The same applies to the two shooters of type two that are assigned to engage these targets. Since there are four targets of type one in this example, it is possible that each of these four shooters will engage a separate target. However, this "perfect distribution" will only occur with probability 1/6 since this level of coordination assumes that there is no coordination among shooters of different types.

The fourth level of coordination considered here also applies to both point and area fire. This level of coordination assumes that all shooters of all types (using any type of munition) coordinate with each other to allocate this fire in some uniform manner over the targets of the type they are assigned to attack (for point fire) or over the target area (for area fire). Applied to the example above, this level of coordination for point fire might allow each of the six shooters (three of type one and three of type two) to shoot at one of the six targets (four of type one and two of type two) in such a way that no two shooters shoot at the same target (and so all of the targets are engaged). The fifth and highest level of coordination included in this taxonomy applies only to point fire. This level of coordination assumes that shooters can engage targets using some type of shoot-look-shoot firing structure. Theoretically, there are several such structures, some less tractable than others (and with some being quite intractable). None of these structures will be discussed in detail in this paper--shoot-look-shoot fire is included in this taxonomy for completeness only. For more information concerning shoot-look-shoot fire, see References [8] and [14].

The point of this discussion is not to provide a definitive discussion of various levels of coordination in point and area fire. Instead, the point is to provide a setting for the taxonomy listed on Table 1.

The point of Table 1 is to provide motivation and structure for the remainder of this paper. The categorization across the top of Table 1 separates the attrition equations being considered into either point fire or area fire equations. For each, either multiple types of munitions for each type of shooting weapon can be explicitly considered or not. Again, note that each equation that considers multiple types of munitions reduces to the corresponding equation that does not do so if each type of weapon being considered uses only one type of munition. The left side of Table 1 lists the five levels of coordination discussed above.

Coordination level 1 is relatively straightforward. The four cases (point fire and area fire, each without or with explicit consideration of munitions) are denoted by P1, PM1, A1, and AM1 on Table 1.

Coordination level 2 applies only to point fire since it involves allocations of fire in a manner not relevant to area fire. In uncoordinated point fire, if shooters of type one are allocated evenly between targets of type one and all other types of targets, then the probability that any given shooter of type one selects a target of type one to attack is 0.5. For example, if there are two shooters of type one, the probability that no target of type one is attacked by a shooter of type one is 0.25. Conversely, in preallocated fire, if shooters of type one are allocated evenly between targets of type one and all other types of targets, then exactly one-half of the shooters of type one will select targets of type one to attack. For example, if there are two shooters of type one, exactly one of them will attack a target of type one.

The various possibilities for implementing preallocated fire can be quite complex. For example, even if multiple types of munitions are not considered, several types of

	Coordination Assumptions	Point-Fire Are Munition No	<u>Equations</u> s Considered? Yes	<u>Area-Fire Equations</u> Are Munitions Considered? No Yes		
1)	Uncoordinated Fire	P1	PM1	A1	AM1	
2)	Preallocated Fire	P2	PM2	n/a	n/a	
3)	Coordinated Fire	P3		A3		
	1) But only within Munition Types		PM3.1		AM3.1	
	2) And Across all Munition Types		PM3.2		AM3.2	
4)	Coordinated Fire Across all Shooter (and Munition) Types					
	1) Uniform Fire by Numbers of Engagements	P4.1	PM4.1	A4	AM4	
	or Salvos 2) Proportional Fire by Potential Kills	P4.2	PM4.2	n/a	n/a	
5)	Shoot-Look-Shoot Fire	P5	PM5	n/a	n/a	

#### Table 1. A Taxonomy for Attrition Equations

preallocation are possible. First, some types of shooters but not others could be preallocated. Second, shooters that are preallocated might be preallocated only against some types of targets but be uncoordinated against other types of targets. Third, if a shooter can make multiple engagements, then that shooter might be able to coordinate its own engagements at a higher level than it could coordinate with other shooters of the same type. Other possibilities may exist. For simplicity, only one type of preallocation is described for the munitions-not-considered case. This preallocation is to preallocate all potential engagements by all shooters of the same type but to assume uncoordinated fire among different types of shoters; this preallocation is denoted by P2 on Table 1. The situation is potentially more complex when multiple types of munitions are considered. Again, for simplicity, only one type of preallocation will be described here. In particular, the direct extension of P2 to the corresponding equation that considers munitions, denoted by PM2 on Table 1, will be discussed in Section D, below.

The third and fourth levels of coordination on Table 1 concern coordination among shooters. Exactly what is meant by coordination here will be discussed in Section D (for point fire) and Section E (for area fire). However, it should be noted that, given any particular definition of coordination, many structures are still possible. For example, some types of shooters (using some types of munitions) might coordinate with some other types of shooters (using some other types of munitions) but not with yet other types of shooters (using yet other types of munitions). When multiple types of munitions are not being addressed, the bounding cases of considering only coordination among shooters of the same type (denoted by P3 for point fire and by A3 for area fire) and considering coordination among all shooters of all types (two methods of coordination, denoted by P4.1 and P4.2, are considered for point fire; one method, denoted by A4, is considered for area fire) are listed on Table 1. If multiple types of munitions are being addressed, the third level of coordination is subdivided into two sublevels: coordination only among those shooters of the same type when they are using the same type of munition (denoted on Table 1 by PM3.1 for point fire and by AM3.1 for area fire), and coordination among all shooters of the same type no matter what type of munition they are using (denoted by PM3.2 for point fire and by AM3.2 for area fire). Clearly, the case that is analogous to assuming that all shooters of all types coordinate with each other when multiple types of munitions are not being considered is to assume that, when such munitions are considered, then all shooters of all types coordinate with each other no matter what types of munitions they are using. Thus, the consideration of munitions naturally extends P4.1 to PM4.1, P4.2 to PM4.2, and A4 to AM4 in the taxonomy of Table 1.

Of all of the theoretically possible versions of shoot-look-shoot attrition, one approach appears to be relatively promising from a computational viewpoint while still being fully heterogeneous in types of shooters, types of targets, and (optionally) types of munitions. This approach is to preallocate the shooters to types of targets (so that the shooters that are allocated to a given type of target can shoot at and only at targets of that type), and then to assume that perfect shoot-look-shoot attrition applies for targets of each type. This is the approach recommended in Section B.6.d of Chapter V of Reference [8]-see that reference for details. When implemented, this approach would give a point-fireshoot-look-shoot attrition mechanism for the case in which multiple types of munitions are considered. The attrition mechanisms for these cases are denoted by P5 and PM5, respectively, on Table 1. There is no area fire equivalent to shoot-look-shoot point fire.

Formulas for shoot-look-shoot attrition will not be given in this paper; Reference [14] discusses the computation of shoot-look-shoot attrition as denoted by P5 and PM5 on Table 1. Formulas for all of the other entries on Table 1 are given below. In order to state these formulas it is necessary to define some relevant notation.

## **C. NOTATION**

#### 1. Notation Common to all Types of Fire

The following notation will be used by all of the attrition structures considered here.

- I = the (input) number of types of shooters being considered;  $I \in \{1, 2, ...\}$ .
- $s_i$  = the (input) number of shooters of type i for i = 1,...,I;  $s_i \in [0,\infty)$ .
- J = the (input) number of types of targets being considered;  $J \in \{1,2,...\}$ .
- $t_i = the (input)$  number of targets of type j for j = 1, ..., J;  $t_i \in [0, \infty)$ .
- $v_j$  = the (input) fraction of targets of type j that are vulnerable to both point fire and area fire for j = 1,...,J;  $v_j \in [0,1]$ .

 $\Delta t_j$  = the (calculated) number of targets of type j that are killed in the attrition process being considered for j = 1,...,J.

#### 2. Notation Concerning Point Fire

#### a. General Point-Fire Notation

The following notation is used in point fire attrition equations whether or not multiple types of munitions are being considered.

- z = the (input) number of point-fire combat zones where 1/z of the shooters are assumed to be attacking 1/z of the targets in each of these z zones;  $z \in (0,\infty)$ .
- $u_j$  = the (input) fraction of targets of type j that are vulnerable to point fire but not to area fire for j = 1,...,J;  $u_j \in [0, 1-v_j]$ .
- $\tilde{t}_j = (u_j + v_j) t_j/z$  = the (calculated) number of targets of type j per combat zone that are vulnerable to point fire in the attrition process being considered for j = 1,...,J.

- $e_i$  = the average number of point-fire engagements that a shooter of type i makes per time period for i = 1,...,I;  $e_i \in [0,\infty)$ .
- $\bar{s}_i = e_i s_i / z =$  the (calculated) average number of point-fire engagements per combat zone that are made by all shooters of type i during the time period in question for i = 1,...,I.

If multiple types of munitions are not being explicitly considered, then  $e_i$  is an input to the attrition calculation. If multiple types of munitions are being addressed, then  $e_i$  either can be an input or can be calculated from other inputs to the attrition calculations as described in Section 2.c, below.

#### **b.** Point-Fire Notation Without Munitions

The following notation is used in point-fire attrition equations when multiple types of munitions are not being addressed.

- $p_{ij}$  = the (input) probability of kill per engagement by a shooter of type i when that shooter is making a point-fire engagement against a target of type j for i = 1,...,I and j = 1,...,J;  $p_{ij} \in [0,1]$ .
- $a_{ij} = a_{ij}(\tilde{t}) =$  the average fraction of engagements that shooters of type i make against targets of type j (out of all of the point-fire engagements made by those type-i shooters) when the target force,  $\tilde{t}$ , is  $\{\tilde{t}_1, \dots, \tilde{t}_J\}$ , where i = 1,...,I and j = 1,...,J.

Allocations of fire can be computed in many ways. See Chapters III and IV of [8] for a discussion of a relatively wide variety of methods to compute such allocations. For the purpose of this paper, assume that these allocations are computed by the method described in Section B of Chapter III of [8]. (This method is used to determine allocations of fire in IDAGAM, INBATIM, TACWAR, JCS FPM, and IDAPLAN, all of which are dynamic combat models.) Discussions of various aspects of this method can be found in Chapter II of [9], on pages 98 through 100 of [10], on pages 31 and 32 of [11], on pages 53 and 54 of [12] (see also pages 42 and 43 of [12]), and on pages 4 through 8 of [4].) This method uses the following inputs.

 $t_j^*$  = the (input) number of targets of type j in a typical target force, where this target force must contain a strictly positive number of targets of each type for

$$j = 1,...,J; t_{j}^{*} \in (0,\infty).$$

 $a_{ij}^*$  = the (input) fraction of point-fire engagements that shooters of type i would make, on average, against targets of type j (out of all of the point-fire engagements made by shooters of that type) when the target force consists of  $t_{j}^*$  weapons of type j', where i = 1,...,I, j = 1,...,J, and j' = 1,...,J;  $a_{ij}^* \in$ [0,1].

The allocations of fire aii are then calculated by the formula

$$a_{ij} = a_{ij}(\tilde{t}) = \begin{cases} \frac{a_{ij}^* \tilde{t}_j / t_j^*}{\sum_{j'=1}^{J} a_{ij'}^* \tilde{t}_j / t_j^*} & a_{ij}^* \tilde{t}_j / t_j^* > 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for i = 1,...,I and j = 1,...,J. Note that, according to this formula,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{J} a_{ij} = 1 \text{ whether or not } \sum_{j=1}^{J} a_{ij}^* = 1.$$

See the aforementioned references for discussions concerning this method for allocating fire in combat models.

## c. Point-Fire Notation With Munitions

The following notation is used in point-fire attrition equations when multiple types of munitions are being addressed.

M = the (input) number of types of munitions being considered;  $M \in \{1, 2, ...\}$ .

pimj = the (input) probability of kill per engagement by a shooter of type i when that shooter is making a point-fire engagement using munitions of type m against a target of type j for i = 1,...,I, m = 1,...,M, and J = 1,...,J; pimj ∈ [0,1].  $a_{ij} = a_{ij}(\tilde{t})$  = the average fraction of point-fire engagements that shooters of type i make against targets of type j using any type of munition (out of all of the point-fire engagements made by that type-i shooter) when the target force,

$$\tilde{t}$$
, is  $\{\tilde{t}_1, \dots, \tilde{t}_r\}$ , where  $i = 1, \dots, I$  and  $j = 1, \dots, J$ ;  $a_{ij} \in [0, 1]$ . Note that:

$$\sum_{j} a_{ij} = 1$$

for all relevant i.

bimj = the average fraction of point-fire engagements by shooters of type i against targets of type j that are made using munitions of type m, where i = 1,...,I, m = 1,...,M, and j = 1,...,J; bimj ∈ [0,1]. Note that:

$$\sum_{m} b_{imj} = 1$$

 $c_{imj} = c_{imj}(\tilde{t})$  = the average fraction of point-fire engagements by shooters of type i that are made using munitions of type m against targets of type j (out of all of the point-fire engagements made by that type-i shooter) when the target force,  $\tilde{t}$ , is { $\tilde{t}_1,...,\tilde{t}_J$ }, where i = 1,...,I, m = 1,...,M, and j = 1,...,J;  $c_{imj} \in [0,1]$ . Note that:

$$c_{imj} = a_{ij} b_{imj}$$
,

and so

$$a_{ij} = \sum_{m} c_{imj}$$

and

$$b_{imj} = \frac{c_{imj}}{\sum\limits_{m'} c_{im'j}}$$

for all relevant i, m, and j.

 $\tilde{a}_{imj} = \tilde{a}_{imj}(\tilde{t})$  = the average fraction of point-fire engagements by shooters of type i using munitions of type m that are made against targets of type j when the target force,  $\tilde{t}$ , is  $\{\tilde{t}_1, \dots, \tilde{t}_j\}$ , where  $i = 1, \dots, I$ ,  $m = 1, \dots, M$ , and  $j = 1, \dots, J$ ;  $\tilde{a}_{imj} \in [0,1]$ . Note that:

$$\tilde{a}_{imj} = \frac{c_{imj}}{\sum_{j'} c_{imj'}}$$

and

$$\sum_{j} \tilde{a}_{imj} = 1$$

for all relevant i, j, and m.

 $\tilde{b}_{im}$  = the average fraction of point-fire engagements that shooters of type i make using munitions of type m against any target (out of all of the point-fire engagements made by those type-i shooters), where i = 1,...,I and m =

$$1, \dots, M; \tilde{b}_{imj} \in [0,1]$$
. Note that:

$$\tilde{b}_{im} = \sum_{j} c_{imj},$$
$$\sum_{m} \tilde{b}_{im} = 1,$$

and

$$\tilde{a}_{imj} \tilde{b}_{im} = a_{ij} b_{imj} = c_{imj}$$

for all relevant i, m, and j.

 $\hat{a}_{ij} = \hat{a}_{ij}(\tilde{t})$  = the average number of point-fire engagements that a shooter of type i makes per time period against targets of type j using any type of munition when the target force,  $\tilde{t}$ , is { $\tilde{t}_{i},...,\tilde{t}_{j}$ }, where i = 1,...,I and j = 1,...,J;  $\hat{a}_{ij} \in [0,\infty)$ . Note that:

$$\hat{\mathbf{a}}_{ij} = \mathbf{e}_i \mathbf{a}_{ij}$$

for all relevant i and j.

b<sub>im</sub> = the average number of point-fire engagements that a shooter of type i makes per time period using munitions of type m against any target, where i = 1,...,I and m = 1,...,M; b<sub>im</sub> ∈ [0,∞). Note that:

$$\hat{\mathbf{b}}_{im} = \mathbf{e}_i \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_{im}$$

for all relevant i and m.

ĉ<sub>imj</sub> = ĉ<sub>imj</sub>(t) = the average number of point-fire engagements that a shooter of type i makes per time period using munitions of type m against targets of type j when the target force, t̂, is {t̃<sub>i</sub>,...,t̃<sub>j</sub>}, where i = 1,...,I m = 1,...,M, and j = 1,...,J; ĉ<sub>imj</sub> ∈ [0,∞). Note that:

$$\hat{c}_{imj} = e_i c_{imj}$$

and

$$\sum_{m} \sum_{j} \hat{c}_{imj} = e_i$$

for all relevant i, m, and j.

The reason for introducing this multiply redundant notation is four-fold. First, of course, some of it is needed in order to express the attrition equations categorized in the taxonomy of Table 1. Second, any particular model could (in general) use any particular form of this notation to express its attrition structure. By presenting the relationships among multiple forms of this notation, the attrition structures of such models can be more easily compared with each other and with the attrition equations described below. For example, Reference [13] defines and uses terms that correspond to  $\hat{b}$  in order to compute attrition due to aircraft on close-air support and interdiction missions. Thus, defining and relating  $\hat{b}$  to the other notation used here simplifies comparing the attrition equations of [13] to the structure presented here. Third, this notation may be useful for suggesting ideas for future research. Finally, input data may be available (or more easily obtained) in particular forms. By presenting the relationships among multiple forms for these data, the form most

appropriate for the data in question can be used to determine input values, and other values can then be calculated from these inputs as needed.

In particular, to exercise the attrition mechanisms discussed here, data are needed for exactly one of the following sets of terms. For all relevant i, m, and j, data must be obtained either for

- (1)  $e_i$ ,  $a_{ij}(\tilde{t})$ , and  $b_{imj}$ , or for
- (2)  $e_i, \tilde{b}_{im}, \text{ and } \tilde{a}_{imi}(\tilde{t}), \text{ or for }$
- (3)  $e_i$  and  $c_{imj}(t)$ , or for
- (4)  $\hat{a}_{ii}(\tilde{t})$  and  $b_{imi}$ , or for
- (5)  $\hat{b}_{im}$  and  $\tilde{a}_{imj}(\tilde{t})$ , or for
- (6)  $\hat{c}_{imi}(t)$ .

Given data values for any one of these six sets of terms, values for all of the other terms can be directly computed as indicated in the formulas above.

#### 3. Notation Concerning Area Fire

## a. General Area-Fire Notation

The following notation is used in area-fire attrition equations whether or not multiple types of munitions are being considered.

 $\dot{u}_j$  = the (input) fraction of targets of type j that are vulnerable to area fire but not

to point fire for  $j = 1, \dots, J$ ;  $u_j \in [0, 1-v_j - u_j]$ .

ż = the (input) number of area-fire combat zones where 1/ż of the shooters are assumed to be attacking 1/ż of the targets in each of these ż zones; ż ∈ (0,∞).

- $\dot{t}_{j} = (\ddot{u}_{j} + v_{j})t_{j}/\ddot{z}$  = the (calculated) number of targets of type j per combat zone that are vulnerable to area fire in the attrition process being considered for j = 1,...,J.
- dj = the (input) average size of the area needed by the defending side to effectively operate a system (i.e., target) of type j for j = 1,..., J; dj ∈ (0,∞). For simplicity, it is assumed that these operating areas are strictly positive and do not overlap.
- h =  $\sum_{j} d_{j} \dot{t}_{j}$  = the (calculated) total size of the area per combat zone needed by the defending side to effectively operate all of its systems that are potentially vulnerable to area fire. If desired, a simple extension here would be to assume that the targets always occupy an area that is at least of size h', where h' is an input, and then h would be calculated by the formula:

$$h = \max\{h', \sum_{j} d_{j} \dot{t}_{j}'\}.$$

- H = the geographical area of size  $\ddot{z}h$  in which the targets vulnerable to area fire are located.
- G = the geographical area into which the shooters are attacking using area fire.
- $g = g'/\ddot{z}$ , where g' is the (input) size of G; for simplicity assume g' > 0, so  $g \in (0,\infty)$ .
- $\ddot{e}_i = \text{the average number of area-fire salvos that a shooter of type i fires per time period for <math>i = 1, ..., I; \ddot{e}_i \in [0, \infty)$ .
- $\ddot{s}_i = \ddot{e}_i s_i / \ddot{z}$  = the (calculated) number of area fire salvos that are made by all shooters of type i per combat zone during the time period in question for i = 1,...,I.

If multiple types of munitions are not being explicitly considered,  $\ddot{e}_i$  is an input to the attrition calculations. If multiple types of munitions are being addressed, then  $\ddot{e}_i$  either can be an input or can be calculated as described in Section 3.c, below. A fundamental assumption made here is that

$G \subset H$	if and only if $g \leq h$ ,
G = H	if and only if $g = h$ , and
H⊂G	if and only if $g \ge h$ .

That is, if  $g \ge h$  then all of the vulnerable targets are inside of the area being attacked by the shooters, while if  $g \le h$  then the area being attacked by the shooters is a subset of the area containing the vulnerable targets.

There are several advantages to this assumption. First, it is reasonable that there be an upper bound on the density of targets, i.e., it is unreasonable to assume that all of the targets are always located in an area of fixed size no matter how many targets there are. In a dynamic model, the number of targets being considered can (in general) vary both up and down over time either as resources are added or moved or as allocations are changed. Thus, even if the ratio of the initial number of targets to the initial target area is within a maximum plausible density, it is appropriate to automatically ensure that this ratio does not exceed such a plausible maximum over time due to the addition or movement of resources or to their reassignments. Second, it is reasonable that there be an upper bound on the number of targets any fixed number of shooters can kill. The assumption here will be used (as described below) to place such an upper bound on the number of targets killed. (For comparison, the simple homogeneous Lanchester linear difference equation

#### $\Delta t = \min\{kst,t\}$

has no such upper bound in that  $\Delta t$  goes to infinity as t goes to infinity for any fixed (nonzero) values of s and k. Accordingly, it is generally unreasonable to use such Lanchester linear equations in dynamic combat models.) Finally, while it would be easy to assume that the smaller of G and H is not necessarily contained in the larger, it might be quite difficult to obtain relevant data concerning such an assumption. Accordingly, for simplicity and for reasonableness in data requirements, it is assumed that either  $G \subset H$  or  $H \subset G$ .

Given this assumption concerning G and H, let

$$\dot{i}_{j} = \begin{cases} \dot{i}_{j} \min\{1, g/h\} & h > 0\\ \\ 0 & h = 0 \end{cases}$$

so that  $i_j$  is the number of targets of type j per combat zone that are vulnerable to area fire into G for j = 1,...,J.

### **b.** Area-Fire Notation Without Munitions

The following notation is used in area-fire attrition equations when multiple types of munitions are not being explicitly considered. Let  $\ddot{a}_{ii}$ ,  $\ddot{p}_{ii}$ , and  $\bar{a}_{i}$  be defined as follows.

- $\ddot{a}_{ij}, \ddot{p}_{ij}$ : For each j, a salvo by a shooter of type i creates an area of (input) size  $\ddot{a}_{ij}$  such that if a target of type j is inside of that area then it is killed with (input) probability  $\ddot{p}_{ij}$  (otherwise, it survives that salvo), where i = 1,...,I and j = 1,...,J;  $\ddot{a}_{ij} \in [0,\infty)$  and  $\ddot{p}_{ij} \in [0,1]$ .
- $\bar{a}_{i}$  = the (input) size of the area for a salvo by a shooter of type i that is used to coordinate fire for those cases in which those shooters can coordinate their fire; it is reasonable (but not necessary) to set  $\bar{a}_{i}$  so that

$$\min_{j} \ddot{a}_{ij} \leq \bar{a}_{i} \leq \max_{j} \ddot{a}_{ij};$$

for simplicity, the formulas below require that  $\bar{a}_i$  be set so that

for i = 1,...,I.

#### c. Area-Fire Notation With Munitions

The following notation is used in area-fire attrition equations when multiple types of munitions are being addressed.

- M = the (input) number of types of munitions being considered;  $M \in \{1,2,...\}$ .
- ä<sub>imj</sub>, p<sub>imj</sub>: For each j, a salvo by a shooter of type i firing munitions of type m creates an area of (input) size ä<sub>imj</sub> such that if a target of type j is inside of that area then it is killed with (input) probability p<sub>imj</sub> (otherwise, it

survives that salvo), where i = 1,...,I, m = 1,...,M, and j = 1,...,J;  $\ddot{a}_{imj} \in [0,\infty)$  and  $\ddot{p}_{imj} \in [0,1]$ .

 $\bar{a}_{im}$  = the (input) size of the area for a salvo by a shooter of type i firing munitions of type m that is used to coordinate fire for those cases in which those shooters can coordinate their fire; it is reasonable (but not necessary) to set  $\bar{a}_{im}$  so that

$$\min_{j} \ddot{a}_{imj} \leq \tilde{a}_{im} \leq \max_{j} \ddot{a}_{imj};$$

for simplicity, the formulas below require that  $\bar{a}_{im}$  be set so that

$$0 \leq \bar{a}_{im} \leq g$$

for i = 1,...,I and m = 1,...,M.

b<sub>im</sub> = the average fraction of area-fire salvos by shooters of type i that are made using munitions of type m, where i = 1,...,I and m = 1...,M; b<sub>im</sub> ∈ [0,1]. Note that

$$\sum_{m} \ddot{b}_{im} = 1$$

for all relevant i.

Either  $\hat{e}_{im}$  for all relevant i and m or  $\ddot{e}_i$  and  $\ddot{b}_{im}$  for all relevant i and m are needed as inputs to these area-fire attrition calculations. If values for  $\ddot{e}_i$  and  $\ddot{b}_{im}$  are input, then  $\hat{e}_{im}$  can be calculated by

$$\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{im} = \ddot{\mathbf{e}}_i \ddot{\mathbf{b}}_{im}$$
.

If values for  $\hat{e}_{im}$  are input, then  $\ddot{e}_i$  and  $\ddot{b}_{im}$  can be calculated by

$$\ddot{e}_i = \sum_m \hat{e}_{im}$$

and

$$\ddot{b}_{im} = \hat{e}_{im} / \ddot{e}_i$$
.

## 4. Notation Concerning Functions

For any non-negative number x, let  $\lfloor x \rfloor$  denote the largest integer less than or equal to x and let  $\langle x \rangle$  be the fractional part of x so that

$$\mathbf{x} = \lfloor \mathbf{x} \rfloor + \langle \mathbf{x} \rangle .$$

To prevent anomalies in the equations below, it will frequently be necessary to consider the term

 $min\{1,x\}$ .

Such anomalies could potentially occur, for example, in point fire if (perhaps due to previous attrition) the number of targets of some type is strictly between zero and one, and in area fire if the lethal area of a single shooter,  $\ddot{a}_{ij}$  or  $\ddot{a}_{imj}$ , exceeds the target area h. For simplicity in writing the equations below, let

 $\tilde{1}(\mathbf{x}) = \min\{1,\mathbf{x}\}.$ 

## **D. POINT-FIRE ATTRITION EQUATIONS**

#### 1. Point-Fire Equations That do not Consider Munitions

Throughout this section it is assumed that if a shooter of type i attacks a target of type j, then it kills that target (i.e., fires a lethal shot at that target) with probability  $p_{ij}$ , and that these killing processes are mutually independent of each other and of all target selection processes. Two or more shooters might attack and fire lethal shots at the same target, which results in only one target being killed.

# a. A General Form for Calculating Point-Fire Attrition

Three of the attrition equations presented below can be put into the general form:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \left( 1 - p_{ij} \tilde{1}(x_{ij}) \right)^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} / x_{ij} \tilde{t}_{j} \rfloor} \left( 1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} / x_{ij} \tilde{t}_{j} \rangle p_{ij} \tilde{1}(x_{ij}) \right) \right] & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 , \end{cases}$$

where the specification of  $x_{ij}$  differs for each of the three equations. The reasons for presenting this general form are: (1) to help relate the equations presented below to each other and to the point-fire equations that explicitly consider munitions in Section 2 below, and (2) to note that it may be possible to develop and relate other attrition equations to those considered here by specifying  $x_{ij}$  in other ways. It should also be noted that there may be several ways to specify  $x_{ij}$  that are structurally consistent (i.e.,  $\Delta t_j$  is properly bounded and moves in the correct direction as parameters are changed) but are not appropriate in that the resulting attrition equations do not follow from a consistent set of physically realizable assumptions. Future research might address alternative specifications and develop reasonable interpretations for  $x_{ij}$ .

### **b.** Uncoordinated Fire

Briefly, uncoordinated point fire assumes: (1) that each shooter of type i on each of its engagements selects one target (from among those vulnerable) to attack, where the probability that it selects a particular target of type j is  $a_{ij}/\tilde{t}$ , and (2) that the target selection processes are all mutually independent, so that, for example, two or more different shooters can select the same target to attack and can fire lethal shots at that target, which results in only one target being killed. The lack of coordination among shooters is reflected in the mutually independent selection of targets by all shooters on all of their engagements. See Section B.3 of Chapter V of Reference [8] for details concerning these uncoordinated fire assumptions. The assumption of uncoordinated point fire yields

Equation P1:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \left( 1 - p_{ij} \tilde{1} (a_{ij}/\tilde{t}_{j}) \right)^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i} \rfloor} \left( 1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i} \rangle p_{ij} \tilde{1} (a_{ij}/\tilde{t}_{j}) \right) \right] & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

Note that setting  $x_{ij} = a_{ij}/\tilde{i}j$  in the general form above produces Equation P1. Note also that Equation P1 is identical to the attrition equation assuming uncoordinated fire as defined in B.3 of Chapter V of Reference [8] whenever, for each i, either  $\tilde{s}_i$  is an integer or  $\tilde{s}_i < 1$ . If, for some i,  $\tilde{s}_i$  is not an integer and is greater than one, then these equations differ only in how to interpolate results between  $\lfloor \tilde{s}_i \rfloor$  and  $\lfloor \tilde{s}_i + 1 \rfloor$ . The choice is arbitrary--any reasonable interpolation would do. The advantages of P1 over the corresponding interpolation in Reference [8] are: (1) the interpolation for  $\tilde{s}_i > 1$  suggested here is consistent with the linear interpolation used by both equations for  $0 < \tilde{s}_i < 1$ , (2) Equation P1 is consistent with the general form given above, and (3) Equation P1 might be more computationally efficient than the corresponding equation in [8] since P1 takes a real to an integer power while [8] takes a real to a real power. However, these differences are very minor and only affect cases involving nonintegral numbers of shooters--in essence, these two equations are identical.

### c. Preallocated Fire

Briefly, preallocated fire assumes: (1) that (the fraction)  $a_{ij}$  of the  $\tilde{s}_i$  engagements by shooters of type i are directed against targets of type j, where  $a_{ij}$  is a deterministic quantity, (2) that each shooter on each of its engagements selects, according to a uniform distribution, one target (from among those of the type it is directed against) to attack, and (3) that all of the target selection processes are mutually independent. (For comparison, in uncoordinated fire the expected number of engagements by shooters of type i against targets of type j is  $\tilde{s}_i a_{ij}$ , but this expected number is an average of many possible realizations. Conversely, here it is assumed that, through coordination, this expected number of engagements is achieved as close as integer constraints allow.) The assumption of preallocated fire yields Equation P2:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \left( 1 - p_{ij} \tilde{1}(1/\tilde{t}_{j}) \right)^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} \rfloor} (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} \rangle p_{ij} \tilde{1}(1/\tilde{t}_{j})) \right] & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

Note that setting  $x_{ij} = 1/\tilde{t}_j$  for all i in the general form given in Section a above produces Equation P2. Note also that Equation P2 is identical to Equation 19 of Reference [1] if: (a) none of the numbers of targets by type (t<sub>j</sub> here, R<sub>j</sub> in [1]) are less than one, (b) all of the probabilities of detection (d<sub>ij</sub>) in [1] are one, and (c) the number of engagements by each type of shooter assigned to each type of target ( $\tilde{s}_{i}a_{ij}$  here, B(i,j) in [1]) are all integers and

$$\tilde{s}_{i}a_{ij} = B(i,j)$$

for all i and j. Thus, the only fundamental difference between Equation P2 and Equation (19) of [1] is that (19) allows probabilities of detection to be less than one, while this paper assumes that all such one-on-one probabilities of detection are (essentially) one.

# d. Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types, Uncoordinated Fire Across Shooter Types

As in Section c above, this level of coordination also assumes that shooters by type are preallocated to targets by type so that  $a_{ij}$  of the  $\tilde{s}_i$  engagements by shooters of type i are directed against targets of type j, but (unlike Section c) it does not assume that, given this preallocation, the fires are uncoordinated. Instead, this level of coordination assumes that each shooter of any given type coordinates with all of the other shooters of that same type that are directed against the same type of target in order to distribute their fire as evenly as possible over the particular targets of that type. However, shooters of different types (even though they are preallocated against the same type of target) are assumed to be unable to coordinate their fire at particular targets. These assumptions yield Equation P3:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} (1 - p_{ij})^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i} a_{i} / \tilde{t}_{j} \rfloor} (1 - \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} / \tilde{t}_{j} > p_{ij}) \right] & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

Note that setting  $x_{ij} = 1$  for all i and j in the general form given in Section a above produces Equation P3.

The rationale behind Equation P3 is roughly as follows. Since shooters are preallocated against targets by type, attrition to the t<sub>j</sub> targets of type j depends only on the engagements against those targets by the  $\tilde{s}_{i}a_{ij}$  shooters of type i for all relevant i. For each relevant i and j, let S<sub>ij</sub> denote the event that a particular target of type j survives an encounter involving  $\tilde{s}_{i}a_{ij}$  shooters of type i and  $\tilde{t}_{j}$  targets of type j. Then, since the event S<sub>ij</sub> is homogeneous in shooter type and target type, the results of Reference [5] apply, and

$$\operatorname{Prob}\{S_{ij}\} = (1 - p_{ij})^{\left\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij}/\tilde{t}_{j} \right\rfloor} (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij}/\tilde{t}_{j} \rangle p_{ij})$$

Since shooters do not coordinate across shooter types, the overall probability that a particular target survives is the product of the probabilities that it survives each type of shooter. Thus, the probability that a particular target of type j survives all of the types of shooters is

$$\prod_{i=1}^{I} \operatorname{Prob}\{S_{ij}\}.$$

Further, since each target of the same type has, a priori, the same probability of survival,

$$\Delta t_{j} = \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \operatorname{Prob} \left\{ S_{ij} \right\} \right].$$

Making the appropriate substitution gives Equation P3 (for z = 1 and  $\tilde{t}_i > 0$ ).

# e. Coordinated Fire Across all Shooter Types

The assumption that all of the shooters can coordinate their fire with each other allows many different allocations of fire. For consistency, for (relative) simplicity, and for useful implementation, shooters by type are again assumed to be preallocated to targets by type so that  $a_{ij}$  of the  $\tilde{s}_i$  possible engagements by shooters of type i are directed against the

 $\tilde{t}_i$  vulnerable targets of type j. Given this preallocation, what the shooting side clearly would like to do (short of having a shoot-look-shoot capability) is to coordinate fire in such a manner as to maximize the number of targets of each type that are killed. Given an integral number of shooters (engagements) and an integral number of targets, the problem of finding an optimal integral allocation of specific shooters to specific targets could be quite difficult. For the purposes here, all of these integer restrictions are ignored, and no optimization problem is solved. Instead, two heuristic methods to coordinate fire are presented. In the first method, the numbers of possible engagements by type of shooter are distributed in a relatively even manner over the targets of the designated type without explicit regard to the probable results of those engagements. If there are more than enough shooters to engage all of the targets, then the shooters attack in evenly distributed layers with no coordination among layers. (This method has a direct analogue in area fire.) In the second method, the shooters are assumed to be further preallocated against individual targets of the type in question, where this further preallocation depends on both the numbers of shooters by type and the probabilities of kill of each type of shooter against the type of target in question. (This method does not have an analogue in area fire.) These two methods are discussed, in turn, below.

#### (1) Even Distribution of Fire by Numbers of Engagements

For this method, the following additional assumptions are made. Let  $\overline{q}_j$  denote the total number of engagements that have been allocated against targets of type j, so that

$$\overline{q}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \widetilde{s}_{i} a_{ij}.$$

Let q<sub>ij</sub> denote the fraction of these engagements that are made by shooters of type i, so that

$$\mathbf{q}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{\tilde{s}}_i \mathbf{a}_{ij} / \mathbf{\bar{q}}_j & \mathbf{\bar{q}}_j > 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{\bar{q}}_j = 0 \end{cases}$$

If  $\overline{q}_j$  is less than or equal to  $\tilde{t}_j$ , then this level of coordination assumes that all engagements

are made against different targets. If  $\bar{q}_j$  is greater than  $\bar{t}_j$ , then this level of coordination assumes that the shooters attack in layers where: (1) the fraction of engagements by shooters of type i in each layer is  $q_{ij}$ , (2) the total number of engagements made by each

layer except (perhaps) for the last layer is  $\tilde{t}_j$  (the last layer can make fewer than  $\tilde{t}_j$  engagements) and each engagement in the same layer is made against a different target, and (3) subject to the restriction that no target is engaged more than once by the shooters in any one layer, the shooters randomly select a target to engage such that the selections of which targets are engaged by which shooters are mutually independent among all layers. (Note that, if  $\tilde{q}_j$  is less than or equal to  $\tilde{t}_j$ , then this is the special case of multiple-possible-layer attack that consists of only one layer.)

Since each of these layers has the same mix of shooters engaging the same type of target and since events are independent across layers, an average probability of kill can be used. Let  $\tilde{p}_i$  denote this average, so that

$$\tilde{\mathbf{p}}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{J} \mathbf{p}_{ij} \mathbf{q}_{ij} \, .$$

These coordination assumptions yield

Equation P4.1

$$\Delta t_{j} = z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - (1 - \tilde{p}_{j})^{\lfloor \bar{q}_{j} / \bar{t}_{j} \rfloor} (1 - \langle \bar{q}_{j} / \bar{t}_{j} \rangle \tilde{p}_{j}) \right]$$

where  $\tilde{p}_i$  and  $\bar{q}_i$  are as defined just above.

Several points should be noted concerning Equation P4.1. First, this attrition equation cannot be obtained from the general form presented in Section a, above, by setting xij to suitable quantities. It is, however, a homogeneous special case of that general form.

Second, note that the first three levels of coordination discussed above have the property that, as the level of coordination is increased (holding all else constant), the amount of attrition increases (or, in degenerate cases, remains constant). This property carries over here if
$$\sum_{i=1}^{I} \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} \leq \tilde{t}_{j}.$$

That is, if this inequality holds then  $\Delta t_j$  as computed by Equation P4.1 is greater than or equal to  $\Delta t_j$  as computed by Equation P3 (when using the same parameters in each case). However, if

$$\sum_{i=1}^{I} \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} > \tilde{t}_{j}$$

then Equation P3 can produce higher attrition than Equation P4.1. For example, suppose that there are three shooters of type 1, three shooters of type 2, three targets of only one type, and that  $p_{11} = 0.50$  and  $p_{21} = 0.25$ . Then Equation P3 gives

$$\Delta t_1 = 1.875$$

while Equation P4.1 gives

 $\Delta t_1 \cong 1.828.$ 

Some additional comments concerning monotonicity with respect to these levels of coordination are given following the presentation of Equation P4.2, below.

Finally, note that, unlike Equations P1, P2, and P3, Equation P4.1 is not monotonically non-decreasing in the number of shooters. That is, the attrition equations presented here are in the form

$$\Delta t_j = f_j(s_1, \dots, s_I, t_1, \dots, t_J, \underline{P}) = f_j(s, t, \underline{P})$$

for some parameter set <u>P</u>. The attrition equations for the first three levels of coordination above have the property that, if  $s_i \ge s_i$  for all i, then

$$f_j(s',t,\underline{P}) \ge f_j(s,t,\underline{P})$$

However, Equation P4.1 does not have this property. That is, there exist cases in which  $s'_i \ge s_i$  for all i yet

$$f_j(s',t,\underline{P}) < f_j(s,t,\underline{P})$$

according to Equation P4.1. For example, suppose that there are two types of shooters, one type of target,  $t_1 = 2$ ,  $p_{11} = 0.9$ , and  $p_{21} = 0.1$ . Then, according to Equation P4.1, if there are two shooters of type 1 and no shooters of type 2 then  $\Delta t_1 = 1.8$ , while if there are two shooters of type 1 and two shooters of type 2 then  $\Delta t_1$  drops to 1.5.

Equation P4.2, below, is also subject to this non-monotonicity in the number of shooters, but it appears to be less sensitive to this anomaly than Equation P4.1. This characteristic will be discussed further following the presentation of Equation P4.2, next.

## (2) Proportional Distribution of Fire by Potential Kills

For this method of coordination, shooters are assumed to be further preallocated in the following manner.

For each relevant i and j, let  $w_{ij}$  be such that  $0 \le w_{ij} \le 1$  and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{I} \mathbf{w}_{ij} = 1 \; .$$

Given  $w_{ij}$ , shooters are assumed to be assigned to targets such that: (1) all of the  $\tilde{s}_{i}a_{ij}$ engagements by shooters of type i that are to be allocated against targets of type j are allocated only against  $w_{ij}\tilde{t}_{j}$  targets of type j, and (2) no shooters of different types ever shoot at the same target. That is, the  $\tilde{t}_{j}$  targets of type j are subdivided into I disjoint groups of size  $w_{ij}\tilde{t}_{j}$  and shooters of type i fire at (and only at) the i<sup>th</sup> such group. With this structure, each shooter versus target interaction is homogeneous in both shooter and target types. Thus (given that the shooting side does not have a shoot-look-shoot capability) it is optimal for the shooters to distribute their fire as evenly as possible over the targets in each of these homogeneous interactions. Accordingly, the resultant attrition in this case would be given by:

$$\Delta t_{j} = z\tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{I} w_{ij} (1 - p_{ij}) \right]^{\lfloor 3, a_{ij} / w_{ij} \tilde{t}_{j} \rfloor} (1 - \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} / w_{ij} \tilde{t}_{j} > p_{ij}) ,$$
  
$$w_{ij} > 0$$

which can be approximated by:

$$\Delta t_{j} \approx z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{I} w_{ij} (1 - p_{ij})^{3_{i}a_{ij}/w_{ij}T_{j}} \right].$$
$$w_{ij} > 0$$

This formulation gives rise to the optimization problem:

such that  $0 \le w_{ij} \le 1$  and

$$\sum_{I=1}^{I} w_{ij} = 1$$

Dropping momentarily the notation irrelevant to this optimization problem (such as the subscript over target types) and using the approximate form for  $\Delta t_j$  above, this optimization problem becomes:

$$\max_{\substack{\mathbf{w}_{i} \\ \mathbf{w}_{i} > 0}} \sum_{\substack{i=1 \\ \mathbf{w}_{i} > 0}}^{I} w_{i}(1-p_{i})^{s_{i}/w_{i}t}$$

such that  $0 \le w_i \le 1$  and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{I} \mathbf{w}_{i} = 1$$

while, with the original form for  $\Delta t_i$ , this optimization problem becomes:

$$\max_{\mathbf{w}_{i}} \sum_{\substack{i=1\\\mathbf{w}_{i}>0}}^{\mathbf{I}} w_{i}(1-p_{i}) \xrightarrow{\lfloor s_{i}/\mathbf{w}_{i} \downarrow \rfloor} (1-\langle s_{i}/w_{i} \rangle p_{i})$$

such that  $0 \le w_i \le 1$  and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{I} w_i = 1$$

Future research could address this latter optimization problem (or, if it is too difficult or intractable, the former problem could be addressed). For the time being, reasonable but not necessarily optimal values for w<sub>ij</sub> will simply be postulated.

The attrition structure above is essentially complete once values for  $w_{ij}$  are specified. Until the appropriate optimization problems are adequately solved, assume that values for  $w_{ij}$  are given as follows. Let

$$\overline{\mathbf{w}}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \widetilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i} \mathbf{a}_{ij} \mathbf{p}_{ij}$$

and

$$\mathbf{w}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \widetilde{\mathbf{s}}_i a_{ij} p_{ij} / \overline{\mathbf{w}}_j & \overline{\mathbf{w}}_j > 0 \\ 0 & \overline{\mathbf{w}}_j = 0 \end{cases}$$

In a sense,  $\tilde{s}_{i}a_{ij}p_{ij}$  is the number of potential kills that shooters of type i can make against targets of type j. Thus, this specification of  $w_{ij}$  sets the number of targets assigned to shooters of type i in proportion to the number of potential kills that those shooters can make against those targets. This specification of  $w_{ij}$  yields

Equation P4.2:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{L} w_{ij} (1 - p_{ij})^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} / w_{ij} \tilde{t}_{j} \rfloor} (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i} a_{ij} / w_{ij} \tilde{t}_{j} > p_{ij}) \right] & \overline{w}_{j} > 0 \text{ and } \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ w_{ij} > 0 & \\ 0 & \overline{w}_{j} = 0 \text{ cr } \tilde{t}_{j} = 0, \end{cases}$$

where  $w_{ij}$  and  $\overline{w}_{j}$  are as defined just above.

Like Equation P4.1, Equation P4.2 cannot be obtained from the general form presented in Section a by setting  $x_{ij}$  to suitable quantities.

Also like Equation P4.1, Equation P4.2 can produce either higher or lower attrition than Equation P3 (and so "increasing" the level of coordination for that represented by Equation P3 to that represented by either P4.1 or P4.2 could, in some cases, decrease the amount of attrition inflicted). The same example given for Equation P4.1 to demonstrate this relationship (namely, three shooters of two types, three targets of one type,  $p_{11} =$ 0.50, and  $p_{21} = 0.25$ ) produces the same results here--Equation P3 gives

$$\Delta t_1 = 1.875$$

while both Equation P4.1 and Equation P4.2 give

$$\Delta t_1 \cong 1.828.$$

If monotonicity in these levels of coordination is desired here, then it can be obtained by replacing Equations P4.1 and P4.2 with Equation P4', where the attrition produced by Equation P4' would equal, for each target type j, the maximum of the attrition computed by Equations P3, P4.1, and P4.2. Since the attrition produced by Equation P3 cannot be less than that produced by P2, this property would also apply to Equation P4'. (It is an open question here whether or not this property applies to Equation P4.1 or P4.2.)

Note that there is no dominating relationship between the attrition produced by Equation P4.1 and Equation P4.2 in the sense that, with one set of data, Equation P4.1 can produce higher attrition than Equation P4.2, while with another set of data, Equation P4.2 can produce higher attrition than Equation P4.1. For example, suppose that there are two shooters of type 1, two shooters of type 2, four targets of only one type, and that  $p_{11} = 0.9$  and  $p_{21} = 0.3$ . Then according to Equation P4.1

$$\Delta t_1 = 2.40,$$

while according to Equation P4.2

$$\Delta t_1 = 2.31.$$

For comparison purposes, according to Equation P3 for this example

$$\Delta t_1 = 2.13$$
 .

Conversely, reconsider the example above in which there are two shooters of type 1, two shooters of type 2, two targets of only one type,  $p_{11} = 0.9$ , and  $p_{12} = 0.1$ . Here, according to Equation P4.1

$$\Delta t_1 = 1.50 ,$$

while according to Equation P4.2

$$\Delta t_1 \cong 1.77$$
.

For comparison purposes, according to Equation P3 for this example

$$\Delta t_1 \approx 1.82.$$

Since all three of these attrition equations produce

$$\Delta t_1 = 1.80$$

in this latter example if there are no shooters of type 2, this example also serves to demonstrate that, like Equation P4.1, Equation P4.2 need not be monotonic in the number of shooters. It is, however, closer to being monotonic than Equation P4.1 in this example. Indeed, if the example is changed so that  $p_{11} = 0.8$  and  $p_{21} = 0.2$ , then attrition according to Equation P4.2 increases slightly as  $s_2$  is increased from 0 to 2 ( $\Delta t_1$  changes from 1.60 to 1.61), while attrition according to Equation P4.1 still decreases ( $\Delta t_1$ , changes from 1.60 to

1.50). For comparison, attrition according to Equation P3 increases from  $\Delta t_1 = 1.60$  to  $\Delta t_1 = 1.64$  in this case.

The examples just above involve (for Equation P4.2) fractional shooters attacking fractional targets. An example in which, according to Equation P4.2, integral numbers of shooters attack integral numbers of targets yet attrition decreases as the number of shooters is increased is as follows. Suppose that there are three shooters of type 1, no shooters of type 2, three targets of only one type, and that  $p_{11} = 0.95$  and  $p_{21} = 0.475$ . Then, according to Equation P4.2,  $\Delta t_1 = 2.85$ . However, if the number of shooters of type 2 is increased from 0 to 3, then  $\Delta t_1$  decreases to about 2.80.

Clearly there is room for more research here. If additional work is done in this area, it should be noted that there are (otherwise plausible sounding) coordination rules for which, not only can  $\Delta t_j$  decrease as  $\tilde{s}_i$  is increased, but also  $\Delta t_j$  can have (discontinuous) negative jumps as  $\tilde{s}_i$  is increased (for some i). The coordination rules that lead to Equations P4.1 and P4.2 do not have this undesirable property-- $\Delta t_j$  is a continuous function of  $\tilde{s}_i$  in these equations.

## f. Shoot-Look-Shoot Fire

The point of this section is to remind the reader that still higher levels of coordination are (theoretically) possible. In particular, there are many variations of shoot-look-shoot firing processes that can be considered. While none of these processes may be computationally attractive, preallocated shoot-look-shoot with no upper bound on the number of engagements per target may be, relatively speaking, the most tractable of these shoot-look-shoot processes. In anticipation of the detailed specification of this process by Reference [14], unbounded preallocated shoot-look-shoot attrition that does not explicitly consider munitions is labeled P5 here.

## 2. Point-Fire Equations That Explicitly Consider Munitions

The point of this section is to extend the point-fire equations presented in Section 1 to equations that explicitly consider multiple types of munitions. For each of the levels of coordination considered in Section 1, one or more corresponding levels are considered here and the corresponding attrition equations that explicitly consider munitions are given. The goal here is essentially just to present these equations, not to provide either a detailed discussion of assumptions that might underlie these equations or a mathematical derivation of these equations from such assumptions.

Throughout this section it is assumed that if a shooter of type i attacks a target of type j using munitions of type m, then it kills that target (i.e., fires a lethal shot at that target) with probability  $p_{imj}$ , and that the killing processes are mutually independent of each other and of all target selection processes. Two or more shooters might attack and fire lethal shots at the same target, which results in only one target being killed.

## a. A General Form for Calculating Point-Fire Attrition

A general form for calculating point-fire attrition when explicitly considering munitions that correspond to the general form presented in Section 1.a, above, is:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (1 - p_{imj} \tilde{1}(x_{imj})) \right]^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i}c_{imj}/x_{imj} \tilde{t}_{j} \rfloor} \\ (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i}c_{imj}/x_{imj} \tilde{t}_{j} \rangle p_{imj} \tilde{1}(x_{imj})) \right] & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

where the specification of  $x_{imj}$  differs as described below. In particular, three of the following attrition equations that consider munitions can be put into this general form by specifying  $x_{imj}$  in three different ways. As in Section 1, the reasons for presenting this general form are: (1) to help relate the equations presented below to each other and to the point-fire equations that do not consider munitions described above, and (2) to note that it may be possible to develop and relate other attrition equations to those considered here by specifying  $x_{imj}$  in other ways. Also as in Section 1, it should be noted that there may be several ways to specify  $x_{imj}$  that are structurally consistent (i.e.,  $\Delta t_j$  is properly bounded and moves in the correct direction as parameters are changed) but are not appropriate in that the resulting attrition equations do not follow from a consistent set of physically realizable assumptions. No such alternative specifications of  $x_{imj}$  are discussed here.

## **b.** Uncoordinated Fire

Uncoordinated fire here assumes: (1) that each shooter of type i on each of its engagements selects one target (from among those vulnerable) to attack, where the probability that it selects a particular target of type j to attack in an engagement in which the

shooter is using munitions of type m is  $\tilde{a}_{imj}/\tilde{t}_{j}$ , and (2) that the target selection processes are all mutually independent. This assumption of uncoordinated point fire yields Equation PM1:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z\tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (1 - p_{imj} \tilde{1}(\tilde{a}_{imj}/\tilde{t}_{j}))^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i}\tilde{b}_{im} \rfloor} \right] \\ (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i}\tilde{b}_{im} \rangle p_{imj} \tilde{1}(\tilde{a}_{imj}/\tilde{t}_{j})) \end{bmatrix} & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

Note that setting  $x_{imj} = \tilde{a}_{imj}/\tilde{t}_j$  in the general form above produces Equation PM1. Note also that setting M = 1 (so that multiple types of munitions are not being addressed) essentially converts Equation PM1 into Equation P1.

## c. Preallocated Fire

Preallocated fire here assumes: (1) that  $\tilde{a}_{imj}$  of the  $\tilde{s}_i \tilde{b}_{im}$  possible engagements by shooters of type i with munitions of type m are directed against targets of type j, where  $\tilde{a}_{imj}$ is a deterministic quantity, (2) each shooter in each of its engagements selects, according to a uniform distribution, one target (from among those of the type it is directed against) to attack, and (3) that the target selection processes are all mutually independent. This assumption of preallocated fire yields

Equation PM2:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (1 - p_{imj} \tilde{1}(1/\tilde{t}_{j}))^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i} c_{imj} \rfloor} \right] \\ (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i} c_{imj} \rangle p_{imj} \tilde{1}(1/\tilde{t}_{j})) \right] \\ 0 \\ \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

Note that setting  $x_{imj} = 1/t_j$  in the general form above produces Equation PM2. Note also that setting M = 1 essentially converts Equation PM2 into Equation P2.

# d. Partially or Completely Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types, Uncoordinated Fire Across Shooter Types

# (1) Coordinated Fire Only Within Both Shooter and Munition Types

This level of coordination also assumes that shooters by type are preallocated to targets by type so that  $\tilde{a}_{imj}$  of the  $\tilde{s}_i \tilde{b}_{im}$  possible engagements by shooters of type i with munitions of type m are directed against targets of type j, but it does not assume that, given this preallocation, the fires are uncoordinated. Instead, this level of coordination assumes that each shooter of any given type when using munitions of any given type coordinates with all other shooters of that type using munitions of that type in order to distribute their fire as evenly as possible over the targets of that type. However, shooters of the same type using different types of munitions and shooters of different types (no matter what munitions they are using) are assumed to be unable to coordinate with each other. These assumptions yield

Equation PM3.1:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (1 - p_{imj})^{\lfloor \tilde{s}_{i}c_{imj}/\tilde{t}_{j} \rfloor} \\ (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i}c_{imj}/\tilde{t}_{j} \rangle p_{imj}) \right] & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

Note that setting  $x_{imj} = 1$  in the general form above produces Equation PM3.1. Note also that setting M = 1 essentially converts Equation PM3.1 into Equation P3.

# (2) Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types but Across all Munitions Used by Each Type of Shooter

As above, this level of coordination assumes that shooters by type are preallocated to targets by type so that  $\tilde{a}_{imi}$  of the  $\tilde{s}_i \tilde{b}_{im}$  possible engagements by shooters of type i with munitions of type m are directed against targets of type j. It also assumes that each shooter of any given type coordinates with all other shooters of that type, no matter what munitions they are using.

This coordination of munitions of different types raises essentially the same problems as discussed in Section 1.e, above, concerning the coordination of shooters of different types, and either (or both) of the two heuristic methods for considering such coordination discussed there could also be used here to address these coordination problems. For simplicity, only the second of these two methods is presented here. In particular, a procedure for considering coordination among the use of various types of munitions that corresponds to the second of the two heuristic methods given in Section 1.e for considering coordination among types of shooters is as follows. Let

$$\hat{\mathbf{w}}_{ij} = \sum_{m=1}^{M} \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i} c_{imj} p_{imj}$$

and

$$\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_{imj} = \begin{cases} \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i}^{c} \mathbf{c}_{imj} \mathbf{p}_{imj} / \hat{\mathbf{w}}_{ij} & \hat{\mathbf{w}}_{ij} > 0 \\ 0 & \hat{\mathbf{w}}_{ij} = 0 \end{cases}$$

Given  $\tilde{w}_{imj}$ , the shooters of type i are assumed to be further preallocated against the targets of type j such that: (1) all of the  $\tilde{s}_i c_{imj}$  engagements by shooters of type i with munitions of type m that are assigned against targets of type j are allocated only against  $\tilde{w}_{imj}\tilde{t}_j$  targets of that type, and (2) no shooters of the same type using munitions of different types attack the same target. Further, the  $\tilde{s}_i c_{imj}$  engagements by shooters of type i using munitions of type m are assumed to be distributed as evenly as possible over the  $\tilde{w}_{imj}\tilde{t}_j$  targets they are allocated against. These assumptions yield

#### Equation PM3.2:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \left( \sum_{\substack{m=1 \ \tilde{w}_{imj} > 0}}^{M} \tilde{w}_{imj}(1 - p_{imj}) \right) \\ (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{i}c_{imj} / \tilde{w}_{imj} \tilde{t}_{j} > p_{imj}) \rangle \right] & \hat{w}_{ij} > 0 \text{ and } \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \hat{w}_{ij} = 0 \text{ or } \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

where  $\tilde{w}_{imj}$  and  $\hat{w}_{ij}$  are as defined just above.

Note that, unlike Equation PM3.1, Equation PM3.2 is not a special case of the general form presented above. However, like Equation PM3.1, setting M = 1 essentially converts Equation PM3.2 into Equation P3.

#### e. Coordinated Fire Across all Shooter Types

The characteristics, problems, and potential anomalies discussed in Section 1.e, above, all directly extend to the consideration of multiple types of munitions--and the structure proposed there also extends directly here. In particular, again assume that the shooters by type are preallocated to the targets by type so that  $\tilde{a}_{imj}$  of the  $\tilde{s}_i \tilde{b}_{im}$  possible engagements by shooters of type i with munitions of type m are directed only against targets of type j.

Given this preallocation, two heuristic methods for coordinating fire are presented below, where these methods are the direct extension of the two methods presented in Section 1.e. In the first method, the numbers of possible engagements by type of shooter and type of munition are distributed in a relatively even manner over the targets of the designated type without regard to the probable results of those engagements. If there are more than enough shooters to engage all of the targets, then the shooters attack in evenly distributed layers with no coordination between layers. (This case has a direct analogue in area fire). In the second method, the shooters are assumed to be further preallocated against individual targets of the type in question, where this further preallocation depends on the numbers of engagements that each type of shooter can make with each type of munition and on the probabilities of kill of those shooters with those munitions against that type of target. (This method does not have an analogue in area fire.) These two methods are discussed, in turn, below.

## (1) Even Distribution of Fire by Numbers of Engagements

For this method, the following additional assumptions are made. Let  $\overline{q}_j$  denote the total number of engagements that have been allocated against targets of type j, so that here

$$\overline{q}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \sum_{m=1}^{M} \sum_{i=1}^{K} \widetilde{s}_{i} c_{imj}$$

Let  $q_{imj}$  denote the fraction of these engagements that are made by shooters of type i using munitions of type m, so that here

$$q_{imj} = \begin{cases} \tilde{s}_i c_{imj} / \bar{q}_j & \bar{q}_j > 0 \\ 0 & \bar{q}_j = 0 \end{cases}$$

If  $\overline{q}_{j}$  is less than or equal to  $\tilde{t}_{j}$ , then this level of coordination assumes that all engagements are made against different targets. If  $\overline{q}_{j}$  is greater than  $\tilde{t}_{j}$ , then this level of coordination assumes that the shooters attack in layers where: (1) the fraction of engagements by shooters of type i using munitions of type m in each layer is  $q_{imj}$ , (2) the total number of engagements made by each layer except (perhaps) for the last layer is  $\tilde{t}_{j}$  (the last layer can have fewer than  $\tilde{t}_{j}$  engagements) and each engagement in the same layer is made against a different target, and (3) subject to the restriction that no target is engaged more than once by the shooters in any one layer, the shooters randomly select a target to engage such that the selections of which targets are engaged by which shooters using which types of munitions

Since each of these layers consists of the same distribution of shooters using the same distribution of munitions against the same type of target and since events are independent across layers, an average probability of kill can be used. Let  $\tilde{p}_j$  denote this average, so that here

are mutually independent among all layers.

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{p}}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \sum_{m=1}^{M} p_{imj} \mathbf{q}_{imj} \, .$$

These coordination assumptions yield

Equation PM4.1:

$$\Delta t_{j} = z \overline{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - (1 - \overline{p}_{j}) \right] (1 - \sqrt{q}_{j} / \overline{t}_{j} > \overline{p}_{j})$$

where  $\tilde{p}_j$  and  $\bar{q}_j$  are as defined just above. Thus, the only difference between Equation P4.1 and Equation PM4.1 is the definition of  $\tilde{p}_j$  and  $\bar{q}_j$ , and setting M = 1 makes these definitions equivalent.

#### (2) Proportional Distribution of Fire by Potential Kills

For this method of coordination, shooters are assumed to be further preallocated in the following manner.

Here, let

$$\overline{w}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \sum_{m=1}^{M} \widetilde{s}_{i} c_{imj} p_{imj}$$

so that  $\overline{w}_j$  is a measure of the number of potential kills that all of the assigned shooters can make against targets of type j, and let

$$\mathbf{w}_{imj} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{\tilde{s}}_i^{\mathbf{c}} \mathbf{c}_{imj}^{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{m}_j / \mathbf{\bar{w}}_j & \mathbf{\bar{w}}_j > 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{\bar{w}}_j = 0 \end{cases}$$

Given w<sub>imj</sub>, the shooters of type i are assumed to be further preallocated against targets of type j such that: (1) all of the  $\tilde{s}_{i}c_{imj}$  engagements by shooters of type i with munitions of type m that are assigned against targets of type j are allocated only against  $w_{imj}\tilde{t}_{j}$  targets of that type, and (2) for all relevant i and m, no shooter of type i using munitions of type m attacks the same target as a shooter of type i' using munitions of type m' if  $i \neq i'$  or  $m \neq m'$ . Further, the  $\tilde{s}_{i}c_{mj}$  engagements by shooters of type i using munitions of type m are assumed to be distributed as evenly as possible over the  $w_{imj} \tilde{t}_{j}$  targets they are allocated against.

These assumptions yield

Equation PM4.2:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{L} \sum_{\substack{m=1 \ w_{imj}}}^{M} w_{imj} (1 - p_{imj}) \right] \\ w_{imj} > 0 \\ (1 - \langle \tilde{s}_{imj} c_{imj} / w_{imj} \tilde{t}_{j} > p_{imj}) \end{bmatrix} & \overline{w}_{j} > 0 \text{ and } \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \overline{w}_{j} = 0 \text{ and } \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

where  $w_{imj}$  and  $\overline{w}_{i}$  are as defined just above.

Note that setting M = 1 essentially converts Equation PM4.2 into Equation P4.2.

## f. Shoot-Look-Shoot Fire

As stated in Section 1.f, above, there are many types of shoot-look-shoot fire. The particular type proposed there is to preallocate this fire, but then to place no upper bound on the number of engagements per target given this preallocation. In addition to being more computationally tractable than other types of shoot-look-shoot fire, this type of fire has the advantage that it has a simple and straightforward extension to cases in which multiple types of munitions are explicitly considered. In anticipation of the detailed specification of such a process by Reference [14], unbounded preallocated shoot-look-shoot attrition that considers multiple types of munitions is labeled PM5 here.

#### **E. AREA-FIRE ATTRITION EQUATIONS**

As with point fire above, the goal here is to describe various forms of area fire in somewhat general terms and to postulate specific attrition equations that correspond to these general descriptions. Future research is needed if it is desired to convert these general descriptions into specific sets of assumptions and to rigorously derive the resultant attrition equations from these assumptions. The descriptions (in Sections 1 and 2) below will typically be presented as if the number of area-fire combat zones,  $\ddot{z}$ , is one. (Occasionally, combat zones will be explicitly mentioned.) This general omission of combat zones will considerably simplify the wording of the following discussions at no real loss in generality, since the extension to multiple combat zones is clear. In particular, multiple combat zones assume that  $1/\ddot{z}$  of the shooters and  $1/\ddot{z}$  of the targets are in each of  $\ddot{z}$  combat zones, with no interaction among various zones. Thus, a description of combat in one zone suffices. The formal statement of the attrition equations (and any ancillary equations or notation) will include  $\ddot{z}$  as appropriate.

Of the total number of targets of type j, t<sub>j</sub>, the fraction v<sub>j</sub> are vulnerable to both area fire and point fire while the fraction  $\ddot{u}_j$  are vulnerable to area fire only. Thus, the total number of vulnerable targets per combat zone,  $\dot{t}_j$ , is given by

$$\ddot{t}_{j} = (\ddot{u}_{j} + v_{j})t_{j}/\dot{z} .$$

Throughout this section these vulnerable targets are assumed to be uniformly distributed over a target area, H, of size zh, where

$$h = \sum_{j=1}^{J} d\vec{t}.$$

The shooters are assumed to be firing into an attack area, G, of size  $\ddot{z}g$ . As stated in Section C.3.a, it is assumed that  $G \subset H$  if  $g \leq h$  and  $H \subset G$  if  $h \leq g$ . Thus, the number of targets that are both vulnerable and are in the area being attacked (per combat zone),  $\dot{t}_{j}$ , is given by

$$\dot{t}_{j} = \begin{cases} \dot{t}_{j} \min\{1, g/h\} & h > 0\\ \\ 0 & h = 0 \end{cases}$$

# 1. Area-Fire Equations That do not Consider Munitions

## a. Uncoordinated Fire

The uncoordinated area-fire attrition equation stated below is postulated to follow from the following general assumptions. Each salvo by each shooter of type i results in J (overlapping) lethal areas, where the size of the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area is  $\ddot{a}_{ij}$ . (These lethal areas can be pictured as being concentric circles whose radii depend on the type of shooter and type of potential target in that a target of a particular type can be killed by a salvo from a shooter of a particular type only if that target is within the corresponding radius of the center of the impact area of that salvo.) If  $\ddot{a}_{ij} \leq g$  then the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area is contained in G, and if  $g \leq \ddot{a}_{ij}$ then G is contained in the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area. (This statement assumes that  $\ddot{z} = 1$ , the extension to general  $\ddot{z}$  is obvious.) If a target of type j is in the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area of a salvo by a shooter of type i, then it is killed with probability  $\ddot{p}_{ij}$  by that salvo (otherwise, it survives that salvo). The locations of the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area of different salvos are uniformly distributed and are mutually independent in the sense that if  $A_{1j},...,A_{Nj}$  are the lethal areas covered by N such salvos, if  $\hat{a}_{nj} = \ddot{a}_{ij}$  when n and i are such that the n<sup>th</sup> salvo is fired by a shooter of type i, and if x is a randomly generated point according to a uniform distribution over G, then

$$\operatorname{Prob}\{x \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{N} A_{nj}\} = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \min\{1, \hat{a}_{nj}/g\}$$
$$= \prod_{n=1}^{N} T(\hat{a}_{nj}/g) .$$

The uniform distribution and mutual independence (i.e., lack of coordination) of these salvos, combined with the uniform distribution of targets and the assumptions concerning G and H, lead to

Equation A1:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \boldsymbol{\ddot{z}}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} (1 - \boldsymbol{\ddot{p}}_{ij} \boldsymbol{\tilde{1}}(\boldsymbol{\dot{a}}_{ij}/g))^{[\boldsymbol{\ddot{s}}_{i}]} (1 - \boldsymbol{\ddot{p}}_{ij} \boldsymbol{\tilde{1}}(\boldsymbol{\ddot{a}}_{ij}/g) < \boldsymbol{\ddot{s}}_{i} >) \right].$$

Note that "edge effects" are being ignored here in that it is assumed that: (1) the lethal areas of all salvos fall entirely within G, (2)  $G \subset H$  if  $g \leq h$  and  $H \subset G$  if  $h \leq g$ , and (3) if x is a randomly generated point according to a uniform distribution over G, then

$$\operatorname{Prob}\{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{A}_{ij}\} = \widetilde{\mathbf{1}}(\dot{\mathbf{a}}_{ij}/g)$$

where  $A_{ij}$  is the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area covered by a salvo from a shooter of type i.

# b. Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types, Uncoordinated Fire Across Shooter Types

If shooters of the same type can coordinate their area fire then, given that the targets are randomly and uniformly distributed over the target area, the shooters want to cover the attack area as evenly as possible. If  $\ddot{a}_{ij}$  did not depend on j, then the assumption that "edge effects" can be ignored would yield a simple formula for such uniform coverage. The assumption that "edge effects" can be ignored will be kept throughout this paper, and the following approach is suggested to handle cases in which  $\ddot{a}_{ij}$  varies with j.

Shooters of type i are assumed to coordinate their area fire based on a planning size, denoted by  $\bar{a}_i$  in Section C.3.b, above. Since  $\bar{a}_i$  is independent of j and since "edge effects" are being ignored, it is easy to plan uniform coverage based on this planning size. For example, if  $\bar{a}_i = 1$ ,  $\dot{s}_i = 30$  and g = 20, then half of G would be planned to be covered by one salvo from shooters of type i while the other half would be planned to be covered by two such salvos. The impact of planning fire based on  $\bar{a}_i$  is assessed as follows.

Suppose, for a particular j, that  $\ddot{a}_{ij} = \ddot{a}_i/2$ . Then, while a salvo by a shooter of type i is planned to cover an area of size  $\bar{a}_i$ , its lethal area with respect to targets of type j is only  $\ddot{a}_i/2$ . Thus, the probability that such a salvo kills a randomly (uniformly) located target in its planned attack area (of size  $\bar{a}_i$ ) is

$$\ddot{p}_{ij}/2 = \ddot{p}_{ij}(\dot{a}_{ij}/\bar{a}_{i}) \ . \label{eq:posterior}$$

Conversely, for a particular j, suppose that  $\ddot{a}_{ij} = 2\bar{a}_i$ . Then the attacker would plan on using two salvos by shooters of type i in order to provide single coverage of an area of size

 $\ddot{a}_{ij}$ . Yet, since  $\ddot{a}_{ij} = 2\bar{a}_i$ , two such salvos (if coordinated) would provide double coverage of that area. The probability that a target of type j is killed in such a double-covered area is

$$1 - (1 - \ddot{p}_{ij})^2 = 1 - (1 - \ddot{p}_{ij})^{(\dot{a}_{ij}/\ddot{a}_{i})}.$$

In general, it is assumed that if shooters of type i coordinate their area fire such that each shooter of type i plans to attack an area of size  $\bar{a}_{i}$ , and that no shooters of that type plan to attack the same area until the whole attack area has been covered by that type of shooter, then the probability that a target of type j located in particular type-i shooters' attack area is killed by a salvo from that shooter,  $\bar{p}_{ii}$ , is given by

$$\vec{p}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \begin{bmatrix} |\vec{a}_i/\vec{a}_i| \\ 1-(1-\vec{p}_{ij}) & (1-\vec{p}_{ij} < \vec{a}_i') \\ 0 & & \bar{a}_i > 0 \\ 0 & & & \bar{a}_i = 0 \\ \end{cases}$$

where  $\ddot{a}_{ij} = \min{\{\ddot{a}_{ij}, g\}}$ .

This structure for coordinating fire within shooter types combined with the assumption of nc coordination among different types of shooters leads to

#### Equation A3:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \vec{z} \vec{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} (1 - \vec{p}_{ij})^{\lfloor \vec{s}_{i} \cdot \vec{a}_{i}/g \rfloor} (1 - \vec{p}_{ij} < \vec{s}_{i} \cdot \vec{a}_{i}/g >) \right]$$

where  $\overline{p}_{ij}$  is as defined just above.

This equation is labeled A.3 instead of A.2, even though it is the second area fire equation, for consistency with the corresponding underlying assumptions concerning point fire. The second equation for point fire, preallocated point fire, has no analogue in area fire.

## c. Coordinated Fire Across all Shooter Types

Many of the characteristics, problems, and potential anomalies discussed in Section D.1.e concerning coordinated point fire have analogues concerning coordination in area fire. In particular, if all fire can be coordinated, then the attacker may want to coordinate its fire to maximize some measure of the number of targets killed, and it is not clear how to perform this maximization. One of the heuristic techniques proposed in Section D.1.e, preallocation of shooters to a subset of the targets of a particular type in proportion to particular kills, does not have an analogue in area fire because area fire does not allocate shooters to targets. The other heuristic technique proposed in Section D.1.e, independent layers of fire with each layer being the same mix of shooters, does have a direct analogue in area fire-this analogue is proposed below.

Assume that the shooters coordinate their fire in the following manner. Let  $\tilde{q}$  denote the total (planning) area that can be covered by all of the shooters per combat zone, so that

$$\tilde{\mathbf{q}} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \ddot{\mathbf{s}}_{i} \vec{\mathbf{a}}_{i}$$

Let  $\ddot{q}_i$  denote the fraction of this area that is due to shooters of type i, so that

$$\ddot{q}_{i} = \begin{cases} \ddot{s}_{i} \bar{a}_{i} / \tilde{q} & \tilde{q} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{q} = 0 \end{cases}$$

If  $\tilde{q}$  is less than or equal to g, then each salvo fires into its own planning area. If  $\tilde{q}$  is greater than g, then the shooters are assumed to fire in layers such that: (1) the fraction of the area covered by each layer that is due to shooters of type i is  $\ddot{q}_{i}$ , (2) each layer, except (perhaps) for the last layer, exactly covers the attacked area of size g with no overlap among the planned attack areas of different salvos in the same layer, (i.e., in each layer, each salvo fires into its own planning area), and (3) the areas covered by shooters of different types in different layers are mutually independent in the sense that knowledge that an independently randomly generated point in G is contained in the planning area of a salvo by a shooter of a particular type in a particular layer gives no information concerning the coverage of that point by any other layer. (For example, if  $\tilde{q} = 2.5g$ , then knowledge that a point is covered by the planning area of a salvo for a shooter of type i in the first layer gives

no information concerning which type of shooters will cover that point in the second layer or whether or not that point will be covered in the third layer.)

Since each of these layers has the same mix of shooters and since events are independent across layers, an average probability of kill can be used. Let  $\hat{p}_j$  denote this average, so that

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \overline{\mathbf{p}}_{ij} \dot{\mathbf{q}}_{i}$$

where, as above,

$$\overline{p}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \begin{bmatrix} |\vec{a}_{ij}/\vec{a}_{i}| \\ 1 - (1 - \vec{p}_{ij}) & (1 - \vec{p}_{ij} < \vec{a}_{ij}/\vec{a}_{i} > & \vec{a}_{i} > 0 \\ 0 & & \vec{a}_{i} = 0 \end{cases}$$

and  $\ddot{a}'_{ij} = \min{\{\ddot{a}_{ij}, g\}}$ .

These coordination assumptions yield

Equation A4:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \ddot{z}\dot{t}_{j} \left[ 1 - (1 - \hat{p}_{j})^{\lfloor \tilde{q}/g \rfloor} (1 - \hat{p}_{j} < \tilde{q}/g >) \right]$$

where  $\hat{p}_{j}$  and  $\tilde{q}$  are as defined just above.

Note that, if  $\tilde{q}$  is less than or equal to g, then the attrition produced by Equation A4 must be greater than or (in degenerate cases) equal to the attrition produced by Equation A3 (when using the same parameters in each case). This inequality may not hold if  $\tilde{q}$  is greater than g. It is possible to guarantee that increasing coordination would not decrease attrition for any one particular type of target (or any particular weighted average of targets) by replacing Equation A4 with Equation A4', when the attrition produced by Equation A4' would be, for all types of targets, the attrition produced either by Equation A3 or by Equation A4--whichever produced the higher attrition for the particular type of target (or weighted average of targets) in question.

#### 2. Area-Fire Equations That Explicitly Consider Munitions

The goal of this section is to extend the area-fire equations presented in Section 1 (that do not consider munitions) to equations that explicitly consider multiple types of munitions. For each of the levels of coordination considered in Section 1, one or more corresponding levels are considered here and the corresponding attrition equations that explicitly consider munitions are given. As with point fire, the goal here is essentially just to present these equations, not to provide either a detailed discussion of assumptions that might underlie these equations or a rigorous derivation of these equations from such assumptions.

#### a. Uncoordinated Fire

The uncoordinated area-fire attrition equation stated below is postulated to follow from the following general assumptions. Each salvo by a shooter of type i using munitions of type m creates J (overlapping) lethal areas, where the size of the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area is ä<sub>imi</sub>. (These lethal areas can be pictured as being concentric circles whose radii depend on the type of shooter, type of munition, and type of potential target in that a target of a particular type can be killed by a salvo from a shooter of a particular type using a munition of a particular type only if that target is within the corresponding radius of the center of the impact area of that salvo.) If  $\ddot{a}_{imi} \leq g$  then the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area is contained in G, and if  $g \leq g$  $\ddot{a}_{imi}$  then G is contained in the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area. (This statement assumes that  $\ddot{z} = 1$ , the extension to general z is obvious.) If a target of type j is in the j<sup>th</sup> lethal area of a salvo by a shooter of type i using munitions of type m, then it is killed with probability  $\dot{p}_{imi}$  by that salvo (otherwise, it survives that salvo). The locations of the jth lethal areas of different salvos are uniformly distributed and mutually independent in the sense that if A1j,...,ANj are the lethal areas covered by N such salvos, if  $\hat{a}_{ni} = \ddot{a}_{imi}$  where n, i, and m are such that the n<sup>th</sup> salvo is fired by a shooter of type i using munitions of type m, and if x is a randomly generated point according to a uniform distribution over G, then

$$\operatorname{Prob}\{\mathbf{x} \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{N} A_{nj}\} = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \min\{1, \hat{a}_{nj}/g\}$$
$$= \prod_{n=1}^{N} \widetilde{1}(\hat{a}_{nj}/g) .$$

The uniform distribution and mutual independence (i.e., level of coordination) of these salvos, combined with the uniform distribution of targets and the assumptions concerning G and H, lead to

Equation AM1:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \ddot{z}_{ij} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (1 - \ddot{p}_{imj} \tilde{1}(\ddot{a}_{imj}/g))^{\lfloor \ddot{s}_{i}\ddot{b}_{im} \rfloor} (1 - \ddot{p}_{imj} \tilde{1}(\dot{a}_{imj}/g) < \ddot{s}_{i}\ddot{b}_{im} >) \right].$$

Note that, as in Section 1 above, all "edge effects" are ignored here. Note also that, if M = 1, then Equation AM1 essentially reduces to Equation A1.

# b. Partially or Completely Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types, Uncoordinated Fire Across Shooter Types

# (1) Coordinated Fire Only Within Both Shooter and Munition Types

This level of coordination assumes that shooters of the same type attempt to coordinate their fire when using munitions of the same type, but they cannot (or do not) coordinate when using munitions of different types, and shooters of different types cannot (or do not) coordinate.

When shooters do coordinate, they are assumed to use essentially the same coordination techniques as described in Section 1.b, above--the distinction here is that the size of the planning area,  $\bar{a}_{im}$ , depends on the type of munition being used as well as on the type of shooter. That is, it is assumed here that each shooter of type i when using munitions of type m plans to attack an area of size  $\bar{a}_{im}$ , and no two shooters of the same type plan to attack the same area with the same type of munition until the whole attack area has been covered by that type of shooter using that type of munition. The resulting probability of kill of a target of type j in the planning area of a shooter of type i using munitions of type m is assumed to be given by

$$\bar{p}_{imj} = \begin{cases} |\dot{a}_{im}/\bar{a}_{m}| \\ 1 - (1 - \dot{p}_{imj}) & (1 - \dot{p}_{imj} < \dot{a}_{im}'/\bar{a}_{im} >) \\ 0 & \bar{a}_{im} = 0 \end{cases}$$

where  $\ddot{a}'_{imj} = \min{\{\ddot{a}_{imj}, g\}}$ .

This structure for coordinating fire among shooters of the same type using munitions of the same type, with uncoordinated fire otherwise, leads to

Equation AM3.1:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \ddot{z}\dot{t}_{j} \left[1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (1 - \vec{p}_{imj})^{\left[\dot{z}_{i}\ddot{b}_{im}\vec{a}_{im}/g\right]} (1 - \vec{p}_{imj} < \ddot{z}_{i}\ddot{b}_{im}\vec{a}_{im}/g >)\right]$$

where  $\overline{p}_{imj}$  is as defined just above. Note that, if M = 1, then Equation AM3.1 essentially reduces to Equation A3.

# (2) Coordinated Fire Within Shooter Types but Across all Munitions Used by Each Type of Shooter

Sections D.1.e and D.2.e give two heuristic methods for considering coordination among various types of shooters in point fire. For simplicity, only one of these methods was used in Section D.2.d(2) to consider coordination among shooters of the same type when using munitions of different types in point fire. The method used there (further preallocation of shooters to targets based on potential kills) does not extend to area fire. However, the other method (distributing the shooters evenly over the targets in uncoordinated layers) extends directly to area fire. Accordingly, this other method is used here to consider coordination among shooters of the same type when using munitions of different types in area fire.

Assume that the shooters of each type coordinate their fire with other shooters of the same type in the following manner. Let  $\tilde{q}'_{i}$  denote the total (planning) area that can be covered by all of the shooters of type i per combat zone, so that

$$\tilde{\mathbf{q}}_{i}' = \sum_{m=1}^{M} \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{i} \tilde{\mathbf{b}}_{im} \tilde{\mathbf{a}}_{im}$$

Let  $\ddot{q}'_{im}$  denote the fraction of this area that is covered by munitions of type m, so that

$$\ddot{\mathbf{q}}_{\mathbf{im}}' = \begin{cases} \ddot{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{i}} \ddot{\mathbf{b}}_{\mathbf{im}} \bar{\mathbf{a}}_{\mathbf{im}} / \tilde{\mathbf{q}}_{\mathbf{i}}' & \tilde{\mathbf{q}}_{\mathbf{i}}' > 0 \\ \\ 0 & \tilde{\mathbf{q}}_{\mathbf{i}}' = 0 \\ \end{cases}$$

Assume, for each i, that the shooters of type i fire in layers such that: (1) the fraction of the area covered by each layer that is due to munitions of type m is  $\ddot{q}'_{im}$ , (2) each layer, except (perhaps) for the last layer, exactly covers the attacked area of size g with no overlap among the planned attack areas of different salvos in the same layer, and (3) the areas covered by munitions of different types in different layers are mutually independent in the sense that knowledge that an independently randomly generated point in G is contained in the planning area of a salvo using a particular type of munition gives no information concerning the coverage of that point by any other layer.

Since each of these layers uses the same mix of munitions and since events are independent across layers, an average probability of kill can be used. Let  $\hat{p}'_{ij}$  denote this average for shooters of type i, so that

$$\hat{p}'_{ij} = \sum_{m=1}^{M} \bar{p}_{imj} \dot{q}'_{im}$$

where, as above

$$\vec{p}_{imj} = \begin{cases} \begin{bmatrix} |\vec{a}_{imj}/\vec{a}_{im}| \\ 1 - (1 - \vec{p}_{imj}) & (1 - \vec{p}_{imj} < \vec{a}_{imj}/\vec{a}_{im} >) \\ 0 & \vec{a}_{im} = 0 \\ \end{bmatrix}$$

and  $\ddot{a}'_{imj} = \min{\{\ddot{a}_{imj}, g\}}$ .

These coordination assumptions yield

Equation AM3.2:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \ddot{z}t_{j} \left[ 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{I} (1 - \hat{p}'_{ij})^{\lfloor \vec{q}_{i} / g \rfloor} (1 - \hat{p}'_{ij} < \tilde{q}'_{i} / g >) \right]$$

where  $\hat{p}'_{ij}$  and  $\tilde{q}'_i$  are as defined just above. Like Equation AM3.1, if M = 1 then Equation AM3.2 also essentially reduces to Equation A3.

## c. Coordinated Fire Across all Shooter Types

The characteristics, problems, and procedures concerning coordination among all shooters when munitions are not considered all extend to the corresponding case here that explicitly considers multiple types of munitions. The corresponding heuristic procedure to address this coordination is as follows.

Let  $\tilde{q}$  denote the total (planning) area that can be covered by all of the shooters per combat zone, so that here

$$\tilde{q} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \sum_{m=1}^{M} \tilde{s}_{i} \tilde{b}_{im} \tilde{a}_{im}$$

Let  $\dot{q}_{im}$  denote the fraction of this area that is due to shooters of type i using munitions of type m, so that

$$\ddot{q}_{im} = \begin{cases} \ddot{s}_i \dot{b}_{im} \bar{a}_{im} / \tilde{q} & \tilde{q} > 0 \\ \\ 0 & \tilde{q} = 0 \end{cases}$$

The shooters are assumed to fire in layers such that: (1) the fraction of the area covered by each layer that is due to shooters of type i using munitions of type m is  $\ddot{q}_{im}$ , (2) each layer, except (perhaps) for the last layer, exactly covers the attacked area of size g with no overlap among the planned attack areas of different salvos in the same layer, and (3) the areas covered by different salvos in different layers are mutually independent in the sense that knowledge that an independently randomly generated point in G is contained in the planning area of a salvo by a shooter of a particular type using a munition of a particular type gives no information concerning the coverage of that point by any other layer.

Since each of these layers has the same mix of shooters using the same mix of munitions and since events are independent across layers, an average probability of kill can be used. Let  $\hat{p}_i$  denote this average so that here

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \sum_{m=1}^{M} \overline{\mathbf{p}}_{imj} \mathbf{\ddot{q}}_{im}$$

where, as above,

$$\bar{p}_{imj} = \begin{cases} 1 - (1 - \dot{p}_{imj})^{[a_{imj}]} (1 - \dot{p}_{imj} < \ddot{a}_{imj})^{[a_{imj}]} & \bar{a}_{im} > 0 \\ 0 & \bar{a}_{im} = 0 \end{cases}$$

and  $\ddot{a}'_{imj} = \min{\{\ddot{a}_{imj}, g\}}$ .

These coordination assumptions yield

Equation AM4:

$$\Delta t_{j} = \ddot{z}t_{j} \left[ 1 - (1 - \hat{p}_{j})^{\lfloor \overline{a}/g \rfloor} (1 - \hat{p}_{j} < \overline{a}/g >) \right]$$

where  $\hat{p}_{i}$  and  $\tilde{q}$  are as defined just above.

Note that the only difference between Equation A4 and Equation AM4 is the difference in the definitions of  $\hat{p}_i$  and  $\tilde{q}$ , and if M = 1 these definitions are equivalent.

#### F. A COMPREHENSIVE MIXED-FIRE ATTRITION EQUATION

The attrition equations presented in Sections D and E above are described as if the shooters of all types all operate at one particular level of coordination when using point fire, and they all operate at one particular level of coordination when using area fire (the level of coordination used for point fire need not equal the level of coordination used for area fire). The variables  $e_i$  and  $\ddot{e}_i$  give the average number of engagements for point fire and the average number of salvos for area fire, respectively, per time period for shooters of type i. In particular,  $e_i = 0$  if shooters of type i only use area fire, and  $\ddot{e}_i = 0$  if they only use point fire. The purpose of this section is to propose a structure that allows, within each type of fire (point or area), some shooters to operate at one level of coordination while other

shooters operate at other levels of coordination. Many such structures are possible. While the particular structure presented here is relatively comprehensive, even more general structures could be developed. Conversely, special cases of the structure presented here may be of interest in particular situations.

One can view the taxonomy of Table 1 above as delineating eight different categories of fire--five for point fire corresponding to the five levels of coordination listed on that table, and three for area fire (the other two levels of coordination not being applicable to area fire). That is, the distinction as to whether or not multiple types of munitions are being addressed can be considered as being a question of concerning the level of detail, not the categories of fire, being simulated. Further, the subheadings under coordinated fire within shooter types and under coordinated fire across shooter types on Table 1 can be considered as being definitions of what is meant by coordination. Removing the distinction concerning munitions and grouping together the sublevels under coordination in Table 1 yields eight different categories of fire.

To address these eight categories of fire, consider the following notation. Let

- t = 1 index uncoordinated point fire,
- t = 2 index preallocated point fire,
- 1 = 3 index one of the forms of coordinated point fire within shooter types,
- t = 4 index one of the forms of coordinated point fire across shooter types,
- t = 5 index shoot-look-shoot point fire,
- t = 6 index uncoordinated area fire,
- t = 7 index one of the forms of coordinated area fire within shooter types, and
- 1 = 8 index one of the forms of coordinated area fire across shooter types.

Separate inputs to the attrition structure described here would be needed to specify the forms of coordination to be used for l = 3 and l = 7 (if munitions are being addressed), and for l = 4 (always)--this is discussed further in Section H, below.

Assume that shooting weapons attack targets according to one of these eight categories of fire, where the average fraction of the attacks that are made by each type of shooting weapon according to each of these categories is independent of the size and mix of the target force. In particular, let  $f_{il}$  be defined as follows.

f<sub>il</sub>: For t = 1,...,5 and i = 1,...,I, f<sub>il</sub> is the (input) average fraction of the point fire engagements by shooters of type i that are made according to fire category 1. For t = 6, 7, 8 and i = 1,...,I, f<sub>il</sub> is the (input) average fraction of the area fire salvos by shooters of type i that are made according to fire category 1. For all relevant i and 1, f<sub>il</sub> ∈ [0,1]. For all relevant i,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{5} f_{ii} = 1 \qquad \text{if } e_i > 0,$$
  

$$f_{i1} = f_{i2} = f_{i3} = f_{i4} = f_{i5} = 0 \qquad \text{if } e_i = 0,$$
  

$$\sum_{i=6}^{8} f_{ii} = 1 \qquad \text{if } \ddot{e}_i > 0, \text{ and}$$
  

$$f_{i6} = f_{i7} = f_{i8} = 0 \qquad \text{if } \ddot{e}_i = 0.$$

Note that all of the point-fire attrition equations given in Section D are of the form

$$\Delta t_j = z \tilde{t}_j [F_j(\tilde{s}_1, \dots, \tilde{s}_l, \tilde{t}_j)]$$

for  $\tilde{t}_j > 0$ , where the form of the function  $F_j(\tilde{s}_1, ..., \tilde{s}_2, \tilde{t}_j)$  depends on the level of coordination in question. Also, note that all of the area-fire attrition equations given in Section E are of the form

$$\Delta t_j = \vec{z} \vec{t}_j [F_j(\vec{s}_1, \dots, \vec{s}_I)]$$

for  $i_j > 0$ , where the form of the function  $F_j(\dot{s}_1, ..., \dot{s}_I)$  depends on the level of coordination in question. Accordingly, for l = 1, 2, 3, and 4, let  $F_{jl}$  denote the function given in Section D such that, if  $\tilde{t}_j > 0$ , then

$$\Delta t_j = z \tilde{t}_j [F_{j1}(\tilde{s}_1, \dots, \tilde{s}_I, \tilde{t}_j)]$$

when attrition is being inflicted according to fire category 1; and for 1 = 6, 7, and 8, let  $F_{j1}$  denote the function given in Section E such that, if  $t_j > 0$ , then

$$\Delta t_{j} = \vec{z} t_{j} [F_{jl}(\vec{s}_{1}, \dots, \vec{s}_{l})]$$

when attrition is being inflicted according to fire category 1. Note that  $F_{j5}$  is not defined here. Note also that, for l = 1, 2, 3, and 4,  $F_{jl}$  is implicitly a function of the allocations of fire which, in turn, are functions of the numbers of targets of each type present. Thus, for l = 1, 2, 3, and 4,  $F_{jl}$  implicitly depends on the numbers of targets of each type present.

Finally, note that, for l = 6, 7, and 8,  $t_i$  is implicitly a function of

$$h = \sum_{j=1}^{J} d_{j}(\ddot{u}_{j} + v_{j})t_{j} / \ddot{z}$$
,

and so  $i_j$  also depends on the numbers of targets of each type present. The equations presented below assume that mixed point and area fire occur in such a manner that, for each coordination level for each type of fire (except for shoot-look-shoot fire), the numbers of targets considered present are the initial numbers of targets (not numbers of targets after attrition has been assessed).

Assume that any shoot-look-shoot fire (category 5) occurs after all other categories of fire have been assessed. Assume also that the target selection process (for point fire), the aim-point selection process (for area fire), and all firing process of the shooters in the seven other categories (other than category 5) against targets that are vulnerable to both point and area fire are mutually independent across categories, that the target selection and firing processes of the shooters in categories 1 through 4 against targets that are vulnerable only to point fire are mutually independent across those categories, and that the aim-point selection and firing processes of the shooters in categories 6, 7, and 8 against targets that are vulnerable only to area fire are mutually independent across those categories 6, 7, and 8 against targets that are vulnerable only to area fire are mutually independent across those categories. These independence assumptions yield the following results. Let

$$\tilde{F}_{j} = \tilde{F}_{j}(f, \tilde{s}, \tilde{t}_{j}) = 1 - \prod_{\iota=1}^{4} (1 - F_{j\iota}(f_{1\iota} \tilde{s}_{1}, ..., f_{I\iota} \tilde{s}_{I}, \tilde{t}_{j}))$$

and

$$\ddot{F}_{j} = \ddot{F}_{j}(f, \ddot{s}) = 1 - \prod_{l=6}^{8} (1 - F_{jl}(f_{1l} \ddot{s}_{1}, \dots, f_{ll} \ddot{s}_{l})) ,$$

so that, due to these independence assumptions,  $\tilde{F}_{j}$  gives the fraction of point-firevulnerable targets of type j than are killed by point fire (other than shoot-look-shoot fire), and  $\tilde{F}_{i}$  gives the fraction of area-fire-vulnerable targets of type j that are killed by area fire.

The overall expected number of targets of type j that are killed by all of these categories of fire (all except category 5),  $\Delta \tilde{t}_{j}$ , is the number killed by this point fire plus the number killed by area fire minus the number that would be killed by both point and area fire. Thus

$$\Delta \tilde{t}_{j} = \begin{cases} z \tilde{t}_{j} \tilde{F}_{j} + \ddot{z} \tilde{t}_{j} \tilde{F}_{j} - v_{j} \min\{1, g/h\} t_{j} \tilde{F}_{j} \tilde{F}_{j} & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \text{ and } \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ z \tilde{t}_{j} \tilde{F}_{j} & \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \text{ and } \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \\ \ddot{z}_{j} \tilde{t}_{j} \tilde{F}_{j} & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \text{ and } \tilde{t}_{j} > 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \text{ and } \tilde{t}_{j} = 0 \end{cases}$$

for j = 1, ..., J.

If no attacking weapons are using shoot-look-shoot fire (i.e., if  $f_{i5} = 0$  for all i), then  $\Delta \bar{t}_j$  as computed by the formula just above gives the expected number of targets of type j that are killed in the attrition process under consideration.

If some attacking weapons are using shoot-look-shoot fire, then the attrition due to that fire must be assessed. A reasonable way to assess this attrition in deterministic models is as follows. The number of targets of each type remaining after the attrition due to the other seven categories of fire is assessed is, in general, a random variable. For each type of target, replace this random variable with its expectation, and assess shoot-look-shoot fire against the resulting expected number of targets, so that the shoot-look-shoot fire is assessed against  $t_j - \Delta \tilde{t}_j$  targets of type j for all relevant j. The basic assumption here, which is standard in deterministic combat models, is that the expected number of survivors of an attrition process involving a random number of targets can be adequately approximated by the expected number of survivors of that attrition process given that the initial number of targets is the (deterministic) expected value of that random number. A second assumption here is that vulnerability to shoot-look-shoot fire is independent of vulnerability to other types of fire (it is not difficult to relax this assumption, if desired, but the notation becomes more complex). As noted above, Reference [14] discusses the computation of attrition for shoot-look-shoot fire.

Clearly, this structure of calculating and assessing attrition due to all but shootlook-shoot fire and then calculating and assessing attrition due to shoot-look-shoot fire can be easily generalized. The eight types of fire discussed above could be partitioned into any group of mutually exclusive and collectively exhaustive subsets. Fire of the types in the first subset would be calculated and assessed first, followed by fire of the types in the second subset, and so forth. One reasonable such grouping is as follows. First calculate and assess all attrition due to area fire, then calculate and assess all attrition due to point fire except for shoot-look-shoot fire, finally calculate and assess attrition (if any) due to shootlook-shoot fire. In a two-sided model in which weapons on each side can kill weapons on the other side, attrition due to each group of types of fire for either side is considered. An appropriate procedure for assessing such two-sided attrition is discussed in Section G, next.

# G. CONVERTING UNILATERAL ATTRITION ASSESSMENTS INTO BILATERAL ATTRITION

All of the attrition equations presented in Sections D, E, and F above are unilateral in the sense that they consider only "shooters" on one side versus "targets" on the other. Two-sided models need to use attrition equations that consider weapons that can simultaneously be both shooters (killing weapons on the other side) and targets (being killed by those enemy weapons). Simulating weapons (on each side) that can be both lethal and vulnerable, instead of just invulnerable shooters on one side versus impotent targets on the other, was accomplished in older models in the following manner: First, the initial numbers of weapons on one side were used as "shooters" in a unilateral attrition equation to calculate the numbers of weapons willed on the other side. Then, before these kills were assessed, the initial numbers of weapons on the other side were used as "shooters" in a unilateral attrition equation to calculate the numbers of weapons killed on the first side. After both of these calculations, all kills were assessed. This procedure has been pejoratively described as modeling "all bullets passing in mid-air."

This old procedure can be reproduced as an optional special case of the more general procedure described here. However, the procedure presented here also allows options that avoid this "bullets passing in mid-air" characteristic. An outline of this more general procedure is as follows.

Unilateral attrition equations are used four times: first for the initial side 1 weapons shooting at side 2, second for the surviving (from that first assessment) side 2 weapons shooting back at side 1, third for the initial side 2 weapons shooting at side 1, and fourth for the surviving side 1 weapons shooting back at side 2. The overall attrition (for each side) is then computed as an average of the attrition from the "side 1 shoots first" case and the "side 2 shoots first" case. Of course, in real battles, it is unlikely that either side would fire all of its "shots" before the other side shoots even once; the averaging approach used here is intended to provide a relatively reasonable and tractable method for representing the average results of individual engagements.

Section 1 below presents the notation and specific formulas for this procedure, and Section 2 discusses some of its characteristics.

#### **1.** Notation and Equations

Consider the following two-sided notation As just above, let the two sides be denoted by side 1 and side 2. Assume that all of the resources that can be either shooters or targets (or both) on side s have been partitioned into N<sup>s</sup> types, where s = 1,2 and N<sup>s</sup> > 0 for both s. For simplicity, these resources will be called weapons below, although some of these resources may be non-lethal targets and others may be systems such as high performance aircraft that are not vulnerable in the interaction being addressed. Let  $W_i^s$  denote the number of weapons of type i on side s for  $i = 1,...,N^s$  and s = 1,2.

The unilateral attrition equations of Sections D, E, and F above can be viewed as computing (for each j) the number of targets killed of type j as a function of the numbers of shooters and targets of all types. Accordingly, these unilateral attrition equations can be written in a generic form (using one-sided notation) as

$$\Delta t_{j} = f_{j}(s_{1},...,s_{m};t_{1},...,t_{n}) \qquad j = 1,...,J ,$$
  
$$\Delta t_{j} = f_{j}(s;t) \qquad j = 1,...,J .$$

or

Using two-sided notation, this generic form can be written as

$$C_{j}^{s'} = f_{j}^{s'}(V_{1}^{s},...,V_{N^{s}}^{s};W_{1}^{s'},...,W_{N^{s'}}^{s'}) \qquad j = 1,...,N^{s'},$$

$$C_{j}^{s'} = f_{j}^{s'}(V^{s};W^{s'})$$
  $j = 1,...,N^{s'}$ 

where side s is shooting at side s',  $C_j^{s'}$  is the number of weapons lost of type j on side s' as computed by a unilateral attrition assessment, side s has  $V_i^s$  weapons of type i  $(i = 1,...,N^s)$  available to make engagements (as indicated below,  $V_i^s$  may or may not equal  $W_i^s$ ), there are  $W_{j'}^{s'}$  weapons of type j' (j' = 1,...,N^{s'}) on side s', s = 1,2, and s' = 3-s. In this notation, if weapons of type j on side s' are not vulnerable in the interaction being addressed then

$$f_{j}^{s'}(V^{s};W^{s'}) \equiv 0$$
,

and if resources of type i on side s have no lethality in this interaction then

$$f_{j}^{s'}(V_{1}^{s},...,V_{i}^{s},...,V_{N}^{s};W^{s'}) = f_{j}^{s'}(V_{1}^{s},...,0,...,V_{N}^{s};W^{s'})$$

for any  $V_i^s$  and all j.

For s = 1,2 and s'' = 1,2, let

$$B_{j}^{s'}(s'') = \begin{cases} f_{j}^{s'}(W^{s};W^{s'}) & s'' = s \\ \\ f_{j}^{s'}(W^{s}-B^{s}(s');W^{s'}) & s'' = s' \end{cases}$$

where  $j = 1,...,N^{s'}$  and s' = 3-s. That is,  $B_j^{s'}(s'')$  is the number of weapons of type j on side s' that are lost when side s'' shoots first. The overall number of weapons of type j on side s' that are lost,  $D_i^{s'}$ , is then computed by the formula

$$D_{j}^{s'} = \begin{cases} yB_{j}^{s'}(1) + (1-y)B_{j}^{s'}(2) & 0 \le y \le 1 \\ \left(\frac{4-y}{2}\right)B_{j}^{s'}(s') + \left(\frac{y-2}{2}\right)B_{j}^{s'}(s) & 2 \le y \le 4 \end{cases}$$

where y is an input such that  $y \in [0,1] \cup [2,4]$ .

#### 2. Discussion

The procedure presented in Section 1 above is based on ideas developed in Reference [15] (see especially Sections B.3.b and B.3.c of [15]) and in Reference [16]. The interested reader should consult these references for details, theory, and examples.

Note that setting y = 0.5 (or y = 3) results in computing  $D_j^{s'}$  (for both s') as the arithmetic mean of  $B_i^{s'}(1)$  and  $B_i^{s'}(2)$ . See [15] and [16] for rationale for this value of y.

If  $0 \le y \le 1$  then y represents the fraction of engagements in which side 1 shoots first. Setting y = 1 is quite side 1 favorable in that  $D_i^{s'}$  is set equal to  $B_i^{s'}(1)$  for both s',

while setting y = 0 is quite side 2 favorable in that  $D_i^{s'}$  is set equal to  $B_i^{s'}(2)$  for both s'.

If  $2 \le y \le 4$  then y represents the degree to which potential kills suppress lethal fire. Setting y = 2 means full suppression (i.e., setting y = 2 gives one way of incorporating a "fear of death" into the model). Setting y = 4 means no suppression (i.e., setting y = 4 reproduces the "all bullets pass in mid-air" procedure of older models).

It should be noted that a somewhat more general version of this procedure is suggested in Reference [3] and has been incorporated into the model described in Reference [13]. This yet-more-general procedure also allows weighted averages of  $B_j^{s'}(1)$  and  $B_j^{s'}(2)$  to be used to calculate  $D_j^{s'}$ , where the weighted averages are determined by ratios involving the weighted numbers of weapons present on each side--see [3] or Appendix A of [13] for details.

Further extensions of this procedure are also possible. For example, as suggested in [15], some of the weapons on the side shooting first could be allowed to (explicitly) suppress but not kill enemy weapons, so that such suppressed enemy weapons could not fire back during that time period. Such an extension would require new inputs, but would be easy to incorporate into the "shoot-then-shoot-back" structure described here.

#### **H. FUTURE WORK**

## 1. Implementation

#### a. Code

Clearly, if the attrition structure proposed above is to be incorporated into a new or existing model, then code must be written to perform the indicated calculations. Three points concerning this code are as follows.

First, as noted in Section F, if munitions are being considered and either point or area fire can be coordinated within shooter types (i.e., M > 1 and  $f_{il} > 0$  for some i and l = 3 or 7), then a particular form for this coordination must be specified. Further, whether or not munitions are being considered, if point fire can be coordinated across shooter types (i.e.,  $f_{i4} > 0$  for some i), then a particular form for this coordination must also be specified. To make these specifications, separate inputs to the attrition structure could give the particular forms to be used where, for each such specification, one of the options would be to calculate attrition as being the maximum that would occur over all equal or lower levels of coordination. For example, if M > 1 and  $f_{i4} > 0$  for some i, then a separate input would give whether attrition is to be calculated by PM4.1, by PM4.2, or by the maximum of the attrition given by PM3.1, PM3.2, PM4.1, and PM4.2.

Second, as noted in Section G, some of the types of weapons systems being considered on each side may be shooters but not targets in that they are not vulnerable in the interaction being addressed, while other resources may be targets but not shooters in that interaction. This characteristic could be implicitly reflected by setting appropriate inputs to zero. However, it may be much more efficient to explicitly address this characteristic, especially concerning relatively invulnerable shooters (such as surviving close air support attack aircraft delivering ordnance against ground targets).

Third, the notation and equations in Sections C, D, and E above are written in a completely general sense concerning the possible capability of any type of weapon to use

any type of munition. Enough aircraft of different types can share the use of enough different types of munitions that this notation is appropriate for aircraft and air munitions. (Selected data inputs can be set to zero to cover cases in which certain types of aircraft cannot use certain types of munitions.) However, aircraft generally would not use any type of munition used by ground weapons, and ground weapons of different types have a very limited ability to share the use of particular types of munitions. Accordingly, it seems strongly desirable to explicitly restrict the set of allowable combinations of weapons types and munitions types when coding the formulas presented above. A relatively simple way to make this restriction is the method used in Reference [13]. Briefly, if there are I<sub>g</sub> types of ground weapons, then [13] subdivides munitions types into I<sub>g</sub> + 1 non-empty categories, where there can be multiple types of munitions in each category. For i = 1,...,I<sub>g</sub>, ground weapons of type i can only use munition types in category i. Munition types in category I<sub>g</sub>+1 can be used by (and only by) aircraft. See [13] for details.

## **b.** Converting Model Inputs to Attrition Inputs

The quantities called inputs in the discussions above are, in a sense, inputs to these attrition calculations, not necessarily inputs to the model. Indeed, some of them cannot logically be inputs to the model but must be the result of calculations made elsewhere in the model. Others could either be model inputs or be the results of other calculations made by the model. Some of the relatively more significant such cases are discussed in this section.

Of course, the numbers of weapons of the various types on each side that are present in each interaction can change over time due to attrition, movement, and reallocation. Also, the number of weapons that can shoot (or are vulnerable to enemy fire) might be lowered from the numbers present to account for less than full readiness or for a lack of munitions, personnel, or supplies. These numbers might also be lowered to account for unbalanced forces--see Appendix C of Reference [8] for a discussion of such an effect.

In general, any effectiveness parameter could be a function of whether the side in question is on attack or defense and (perhaps) of other characteristics of the combat interaction in question, such as posture or terrain. Three approaches to consider such cases are as follows. First, it could be assumed that these characteristics are constant for any particular interaction. For example, suppose that some effectiveness parameters can depend on being on attack or defense, and suppose that the interaction being modeled is combat in a ground sector over the course of a day. Then it could be assumed that exactly
one of the two sides is on an attack (with the other side being on defense) throughout that sector throughout that day, and the appropriate effectiveness parameters could be passed as inputs to the attrition calculations. Second, average values could be used. That is, continuing with the above example, suppose the model calculates that, in a particular sector on a particular day, one side will be on the attack 75% of the time (or in 75% of the sector) while the other side will be on the attack 25% of the time (or in 25% of the sector), where in each case the other side will be on defense. Then a 75/25 weighted average of the relevant effectiveness parameters could be passed as inputs to the attrition calculations. Third, if the condition just described holds, then two separate attrition calculations can be made and a 75/25 weighted average of the results could be taken. See Appendix B of Reference [8] for a discussion and amplification of this third approach.

The point-fire attrition equations presented in Section D essentially take allocations of fire as input. These allocations can be calculated in many ways, one such is described in Section C.2.b for point fire without explicit consideration of munitions. The point to note here is that these allocations of fire must be computed someplace in the model in order to be used in the attrition calculation. In particular, while these allocations can be considered as being inputs to the attrition calculations, they cannot (logically) be inputs to the model because (logically) they must depend on the numbers of targets of the various types present in the interaction being addressed.

The attrition equations presented in Sections D and E that explicitly consider multiple types of munitions essentially take the usage of munitions as input. This input usage is reflected in either  $b_{imj}$ ,  $\bar{b}_{im}$ ,  $c_{imj}$ ,  $\hat{b}_{im}$ , or  $\hat{c}_{im}$  for point fire and in either  $\bar{b}_{im}$  or  $\hat{e}_{im}$  for area fire, depending on which of these terms are being used as input for the calculations in question. The point to note here is that these usages must be computed someplace in the model in order to be input to the attrition calculations. That is, while these usages can be considered as being inputs to the attrition calculations, with one exception (stated below) they cannot be inputs to the model because they are not (necessarily) fixed over time. In particular, at any given time these usages will depend on the numbers of munitions of the various types available at that time and on the possible substitution of alternative munitions if shortages of some types (but not others) are occurring. The one exception mentioned above occurs when it is assumed that sufficiently balanced numbers of all types of munitions are present that no weapon ever runs out of any particular type of munition while still having other types of munitions available for it to use.

#### c. False Targets

As discussed in Section A.2, the point-fire equations presented in this paper differ from some previously proposed point-fire equations by adding certain features (e.g., allocations of fire, levels of coordination, and explicit treatment of munitions) and by deleting the option of using one-on-one probabilities of detection less than unity. The major impact that can occur when using such probabilities at values much less than unity is as follows. If the one-on-one probabilities of detection by a particular type of weapons system of all types of enemy targets are much less than unity, and if the total number of targets is quite small, then that type of shooting weapon will be able to make very few engagements (much less than e; engagements per shooting weapon of type i). This characteristic is neither always needed nor always desirable. However, for those cases where it may be needed and would be desirable, this characteristic can be achieved by other means. In particular, as stated in Section A.2, this characteristic can be achieved in the point fire attrition equations presented above (except for Equations P4.2 and PM4.2) by including among the target types (at least) one type of false target. The probabilities of killing this false target should be set to zero for all types of shooting weapons, and the allocations of fire against this false target should be relatively small. If this is done then, if there are many real targets, very little fire will be drained off against the false target. However, if there are very few real targets, then considerable fire can be drained off against the false target thereby significantly reducing the (real) number of engagements that shooting weapons can effectively make. (Some relatively minor modifications would be needed to use this technique with Equations P4.2 or PM4.2.)

The points to note here are as follows. First, it can be desirable for point-fire attrition process to have the characteristic that, if the total number of targets is quite small, then any particular type of shooting weapon makes very few engagements (certainly less than input maximums). Second, while this characteristic can be achieved using non-unity one-on-one probabilities of detection, it also can be achieved within the point-fire structure presented above by using false targets as described here. Third, it is generally easier to include false targets as a type of weapon on each side when initially constructing a data base then it is to add such a type of weapon to an already constructed data base. If false targets are included in a data base and later it is desired not to consider them, then this is easily done by setting appropriate inputs to zero.

## 2. Extensions

## a. Killer-Victim Scoreboards

None of the attrition processes described above compute killer-victim scoreboards as an inherent part of their calculations. In these attrition processes, if two or more shooters fire shots that would be lethal to some particular target, then these processes consider that target as being killed (just as they would if exactly one shooter fired a lethal shot at it), but these processes do not attempt to assign or prorate credit among those shooters for achieving that kill. Since modeling combat beyond any point in simulated time depends on (among other things) the numbers of weapons killed through the current simulated time and (perhaps) on the numbers of munitions expended, but (given these numbers) not on which shooters received credit for achieving those kills, killer-victim scoreboards are not inherently needed to model combat over time. Such scoreboards, however, are quite useful as output descriptors of combat, and it is highly desirable to have such scoreboards available when analyzing a simulation of combat.

There are several relatively sophisticated methods that can be used to compute killer-victim scoreboards based on the attrition equations described above. Reference [17] gives a general discussion of three such methods. There is also a relatively simple variant of the methods discussed in [17]. This simple method would be very easy to implement and easy to extend to explicitly display results by type of munition (as well as by type of shooting weapon and type of target) in killer-victim scoreboards. Accordingly, if the attrition processes described above are coded into a model, then (at a minimum) this simple method for computing killer-victim scoreboards should also be coded into that model. It is quite possible that the more sophisticated methods reported in [17] would provide approximately (perhaps, in some cases, exactly) the same scoreboards as this simple method. However, additional research would be needed to implement the methods proposed in [17] and to examine the magnitude of the differences (if any) among the scoreboards produced by these methods.

#### b. Suppression

The attrition equations above calculate the numbers of targets killed out of those initially present, but say nothing about targets that are damaged or suppressed. Suppression is discussed here; damage is discussed in the next section.

As indicated in Section G above, suppression can be incorporated into the attrition processes described here in a relatively straightforward manner. One way to do this is as follows. For side s shooting first at side s', go through the attrition structure twice, first with probabilities of suppression being used in place of probabilities of kill (to give the numbers of targets that are suppressed), then second with the probabilities of kill being used but with only the unsuppressed targets being available to be killed (to give the number of targets that are killed). Then when side s' shoots back at side s according to the structure described in Section F, only those side s' weapons that were neither killed nor suppressed can return fire. As in Section F, taking averages of the numbers of weapons killed for s = 1 and s = 2 gives the overall resulting numbers of weapons killed. Suppressed weapons would be available for combat in the next period. Of course, other approaches (such as assuming that only those targets that have been suppressed can be killed) could be developed.

### c. Damage

A relatively simple way to compute damage to targets is to assume that an input fraction (by type of target) of the targets that are killed (according to the attrition structure above) are not totally destroyed but, instead, are just damaged. A second input fraction (also by target type) could give the fraction of these damaged targets that need to be sent to maintenance units for repair, with the remainder remaining in combat units in an unready status until they receive in-unit repair. This approach is used for damage to ground weapons in the model described in Reference [13]. An advantage of this approach is that it is quick and simple. A disadvantage is that the fractions of targets that are damaged depends only on the type of target, not on the type of shooting weapon or munition inflicting the attrition.

An alternative approach is to first calculate attrition using probabilities of damage or destruction (to give the numbers of targets that are damaged or destroyed), then to calculate attrition using probabilities of destruction only (to give the numbers of targets that are destroyed), then to subtract the latter from the former (to give the numbers of targets damaged but not destroyed). This approach is used for damage to aircraft in the model described in [13]. This approach is computationally more complex and more time-consuming than the first approach described above, but it does allow damage to depend on the types of shooting weapons and (optionally) types of munitions involved.

If the attrition processes described above are coded into a model, then a decision must be made concerning whether to explicitly consider damage and, if so, what approach should be used to calculate this damage.

#### d. Movement/Attrition Tradeoffs

It has long been argued that a force engaged in combat can trade attrition for territory. In particular, it has frequently been argued that a force engaging in "full" combat can lower the rate of attrition it is suffering at the expense of a less favorable (or more unfavorable) movement of the Forward Edge of the Battle Area (FEBA) by participating less fully in that combat. Many models of combat compute both attrition and FEBA movement as functions of force ratios, and those models are generally able to implicitly trade off attrition for FEBA movement via these functions. However, the attrition structure proposed above computes its attrition directly, not as a function of some force ratio. Therefore, if it is desired to consider attrition versus FEBA movement tradeoffs in conjunction with this structure, then this structure must be modified in some manner in order to address these tradeoffs.

A simple yet general method for explicitly relating bounds on attrition to the average rate of movement of ground forces is described in Appendix D of Reference [8]. This method could be easily applied to the attrition structure described here, if desired.

#### e. Non-identical Area-Fire Regions

The area-fire attrition equation discussed in Section E allowed the shooters and targets to be subdivided into  $\ddot{z}$  (identical) zones where  $1/\ddot{z}$  of the shooters of each type interact with  $1/\ddot{z}$  of the targets of each type in each of these zones. For simplicity here, assume that  $\ddot{z}=1$ . Suppose that there are R regions and that some fraction, say  $\tilde{f}_{jr}$ , of the targets of type j are located in region r for j = 1,...,J and r = 1,...,R. Suppose also that some fraction, say  $\tilde{f}_{ir}$ , of the shooters of type i can direct area fire into region r for i = 1,...,J and r = 1,...,R.

This structure can be pictured as follows. Targets are located in various range bands, where these bands are measured in terms of distance from an average line separating the shooters from the targets. The fraction  $\tilde{f}_{jr}$  of the targets of type j are located in range band r, and the fraction  $\tilde{f}_{ir}$  of the shooters of type i can reach range band r.

This structure, in its full generality, cannot be modeled by the area-fire attrition processes described above. However, (a) potentially important special cases of this structure can be modeled by these processes, and (b) these processes can be modified, if desired, so that they can model this structure in its entirety.

One special case that the area-fire attrition processes described above can model is as follows. Suppose that a particular region can be attacked by all of the shooters that use area fire, and that all of these shooters direct all of their area fire into that particular region. Then, by appropriately setting the values for  $\ddot{u}_j$  (and, perhaps, other inputs), this special case of this regional structure can be modeled by the equations presented above.

Another special case which the above equations can handle is as follows. Suppose that all of the regions can be attacked by all of the shooters that use area fire, and that these shooters direct this fire into each region in proportion to the size of that region. (This might occur, for example, if the shooter had no knowledge of which targets were more likely to be in which regions.) In this special case, the regions essentially play no role and the equations described above apply.

The following steps are needed in order to modify the equations above to fully address the regional structure described here. First, some method must be developed and implemented to determine the allocation of fire of shooters to regions. That is, for those shooters that can direct area fire into more than one region, the choice of which region(s) they will attack (and in what proportion) must be determined. This determination will require making assumptions about how much the shooting side knows about the distribution of targets among these regions. Once this determination has been made, the shooters and targets associated with each region can be calculated and the area-fire attrition process presented above can be applied (separately) to each region.

## REFERENCES

- [1] Karr, A.F., On a Class of Binomial Attrition Processes, IDA Paper P-1031, Institute for Defense Analyses, Arlington VA, June 1974.
- [2] Karr, A.F., A Heterogeneous Linear Law Binomial Attrition Equation, Working Paper WP-19 of IDA Project 2371, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, September 1983.
- [3] Anderson, L.B., An Initial Postulation of a Relatively General Attrition Process, Working Paper WP-20 of IDA Project 2371, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, October 1983, Revised May 1984.
- [4] Schwartz, E.L., A Short Proof of the Basic Binomial Heterogeneous Linear Attrition Equation, with Indications for Extensions, Working Paper WP-21 of IDA Project 2371, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, November 1983, Revised June 1984.
- [5] Falk, J.E., LASL Equations, Working Paper WP-22 of IDA Project 2371, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, July 1981, Reissued March 1984.
- [6] Anderson, L.B., An Attrition Structure Suitable for Modeling Attacks by Cruise Missiles, Working Paper WP-8 of IDA Project 3661, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, June 1984.
- [7] Anderson, L.B., J. Bracken, and E.L. Schwartz, Revised OPTSA Model, Volume 1: Methodology, Volume 2: Computer Program Documentation, and Volume 3: The OPTSA Print-Run Program, IDA Paper P-1111, Institute for Defense Analyses, Arlington VA, September 1975.
- [8] Anderson, L.B. and F.A. Miercort, COMBAT: A Computer Program to Investigate Aimed Fire Attrition Equations, Allocations of Fire, and the Calculation of Weapons Scores, IDA Paper P-2248, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, September 1989.
- [9] Anderson, L.B., Attrition Papers Referenced in IDAGAM I, IDA Note N-846, Institute for Defense Analyses, Arlington VA, April 1979.
- [10] Karr, A.F., Stochastic Attrition Models of Lanchester Type, IDA Paper P-1030, Institute for Defense Analyses, Arlington VA, June 1974.
- [11] Karr, A.F., A Class of Lanchester Attrition Processes, IDA Paper P-1230, Institute for Defense Analyses, Arlington VA, December 1976.
- [12] Karr, A.F., Lanchester Attrition Processes and Theater-Level Combat Models, IDA Paper P-1528, Institute for Defense Analyses, Arlington VA, September 1981. This paper also appears as a chapter of: Shubik, M., et al., "Mathematics of Conflict," North-Holland, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1983.

- [13] Anderson, L.B., et al., The JCS Forces Planning Model Part II: Effectiveness Module Documentation, Volume 3: Conventional Portion of the Theater Land-Air Module, Volume 3 of Part II of IDA Report R-309, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, forthcoming. Equivalently, see Anderson, L.B., et al., The IDA Defense Planning Model (IDAPLAN) Part II: Effectiveness Module Documentation, Volume 3: Conventional Portion of the Theater Land-Air Module, Volume 3 of Part II of IDA Report R-352, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, forthcoming.
- [14] Anderson, L.B., A Heterogeneous Shoot-Look-Shoot Attrition Process, IDA Paper P-2250, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, October 1989.
- [15] Anderson, L.B., Some Concepts Concerning the Incorporation of Multiple Attrition Assessments and Night Combat into IDAGAM, Working Paper WP-8 of IDA Project 3609, Institute for Defense Analyses, Arlington VA, October 1980.
- [16] Karr, A.F., Some Questions of Approximation Involving Lanchester and Binomial Attrition Processes, Working Paper WP-10 of IDA Project 2371, Institute for Defense Analyses, Arlington VA, January 1981.
- [17] Anderson, L.B., Generic Formulas for Calculating Kill Rate Matrices, Working Paper WP-82 of IDA Project 26-01-13, Institute for Defense Analyses, Alexandria VA, October 1988.

# APPENDIX

8

Ĩ

# HOMOGENEOUS SPECIAL CASES

# CONTENTS OF APPENDIX

Α.	INTRODUCTION	A-1
<b>B</b> .	HOMOGENEOUS NOTATION	A-1
	1. General Notation	A-2
	2. Point-Fire Notation	A-2
	3. Area-Fire Notation	A-2
	4. Functional Notation	A-3
C.	HOMOGENEOUS ATTRITION EQUATIONS	A-3
	1. Point-Fire Equations	A-3
	2. Area-Fire Equations	A-3
	3. Exponential and Lanchester Equations	A-4
	a. Point-Fire Versions	A-4
	b. Area-Fire Versions	A-6

~

## A. INTRODUCTION

Much of combat is inherently heterogeneous in types of shooters and/or types of targets. Nevertheless, homogeneous attrition equations can be useful for several reasons, including: (1) help in understanding the corresponding heterogeneous equations, (2) ease of comparison with other attrition processes, (3) computation of simple examples, and (4) use for computing attrition for combat (conventional and strategic) that can be adequately modeled as involving homogeneous shooters versus homogeneous targets. For these reasons, this appendix presents simplified homogeneous forms of the heterogeneous attrition equations discussed in Sections D and E of this paper.

The homogeneity assumptions made here are as follows. (1) All of the shooters are of the same (perhaps notional) type, so there is no need to subscript terms by type of shooter. (2) All of the targets are of the same (perhaps notional) type, so there is no need to subscript terms by type of target. (3) All of the munitions that this one type of shooter can use are of the same (perhaps notional) type, so there is no need to explicitly consider multiple types of munitions. In terms of the notation of Section C of this paper. I = 1, J = 1, and M = 1.

The simplifications made here concerning point fire are as follows. (1) Each shooter being considered can make one engagement per time period. (2) All of the targets being considered are vulnerable to being engaged by these shooters. (3) There is one combat zone. In terms of the notation of Section C,  $e_1 = 1$ ,  $v_1 = 1$ ,  $u_1 = 1$ , and z = 1.

The corresponding simplifications are made concerning area fire. In particular: (1) Each shooter being considered can fire one salvo per time period. (2) All of the targets being considered are potentially vulnerable to these salvos (i.e., all targets that are inside of the area being attacked are vulnerable). (3) There is one combat zone. In terms of the notation of Section C,  $\ddot{e}_1 = 1$ ,  $v_1 = 1$ ,  $\ddot{u}_1 = 1$ , and  $\ddot{z}_1 = 1$ .

#### **B. HOMOGENEOUS NOTATION**

The homogeneity assumptions and simplifications made above simplify the notation introduced in Section C so much that it is useful to redefine this notation for the homogeneous equations presented below.

Consider the following homogeneous notation.

## 1. General Notation

- s = the (input) number of shooters;  $s \in [0,\infty)$ .
- t = the (input) number of targets,  $t \in [0,\infty)$ .
- $\Delta t$  = the (calculated) number of targets killed in the attrition process being considered.

## 2. Point-Fire Notation

- p = the (input) probability of kill when a shooter engages a target using point fire;  $p \in [0,1]$ .
- $\hat{t} = \max\{1,t\}.$

## 3. Area-Fire Notation

- d = the (input) average size of the area needed by the defending side to effectively operate a system (i.e., a target); d ∈ (0,∞). For simplicity it is assumed that these operating areas are strictly positive and do not overlap.
- h = dt = the (calculated) total size of the area needed by the defending side to effectively operate all of its systems.
- H = the geographical area of size h in which the targets are located.
- G = the geographical area into which the shooters are attacking using area fire.
- g = the (input) size of G; for simplicity assume that g > 0, so  $g \in (0,\infty)$ .

$$\dot{t} = \begin{cases} t \min\{1, g/h\} & h > 0 \\ \\ 0 & h = 0 \end{cases}.$$

 $\ddot{a}, \ddot{p}$ : A salvo from any shooter is assumed to create an area of (input) size  $\ddot{a}$  such that if a target is inside of that area then it is killed with (input) probability  $\ddot{p}$  (otherwise, it survives that salvo);  $\ddot{a} \in [0,\infty)$  and  $\ddot{p} \in [0,1]$ .

$$\hat{a} = \min\{\hat{a}, g\}.$$

As in Section E, it is assumed that

 $G \subset H$  if and only if  $g \le h$ , G = H if and only if g = h, and  $H \subset G$  if and only if  $g \ge h$ .

Given this assumption, i is the number of targets that are vulnerable to area fire into G.

## 4. Functional Notation

As in the body of this paper,  $\lfloor x \rfloor$  denotes the largest integer less than or equal to x, and <x> denotes the fractional part of x, for any non-negative number x.

#### **C. HOMOGENEOUS ATTRITION EQUATIONS**

#### 1. Point-Fire Equations

The homogeneity assumptions made here reduce the number of possible levels of coordination of point fire from five different levels to three different levels: uncoordinated fire, coordinated fire, and shoot-look-shoot fire. Shoot-look-shoot fire is not addressed in this paper (instead, see References [8] and [14]). Homogeneous attrition equations for the other two types of fire are as follows.

**Uncoordinated Point Fire:** 

$$\Delta t = \Delta t_{u}^{p} = t \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - p / \hat{t} \right)^{\lfloor s \rfloor} \left( 1 - \langle s \rangle p / \hat{t} \right) \right].$$

Coordinated Point Fire:

$$\Delta t = \Delta t_{c}^{p} = \begin{cases} t[1 - (1-p)^{\lfloor s/t \rfloor}(1 - \langle s/t \rangle p)] & t > 0\\ 0 & t = 0 \end{cases}$$

These equations give homogeneous forms of Equations P1 and P3, respectively. The notation  $\Delta t_u^p$  and  $\Delta t_c^p$  is used in Section 3.b, below.

#### 2. Area-Fire Equations

The homogeneity assumptions made here reduce the number of possible levels of coordination of area fire from three different levels to two different levels: uncoordinated

fire and coordinated fire. Homogeneous attrition equations for these two types of fire are as follows.

Uncoordinated Area Fire:

$$\Delta t = \Delta t_{u}^{a} = i[1 - (1 - p\hat{a}/g)^{\lfloor s \rfloor}(1 - s - p\hat{a}/g)].$$

Coordinated Area Fire:

$$\Delta t = \Delta t_c^a = \dot{t} [1 - (1 - \ddot{p})^{\lfloor s\hat{a}/g \rfloor} (1 - s\hat{a}/g - \ddot{p})] .$$

These equations give homogeneous forms of Equations A1 and A3, respectively. The notation  $\Delta t_n^a$  and  $\Delta t_c^a$  is used in Section 3.b, below.

## 3. Exponential and Lanchester Equations

#### a. Point-Fire Versions

In addition to the uncoordinated fire and coordinated fire attrition equations given in Section 1 above, two equations that have been used to simulate point fire attrition are:

$$\Delta t = \Delta t_e^p = \begin{cases} t(1 - e^{-ps/t}) & t > 0\\ 0 & t = 0 \end{cases}$$

and

$$\Delta t = \Delta t_1^p = \begin{cases} ps & t \ge ps \\ t & t < ps. \end{cases}$$

For obvious reasons, the first equation is frequently called an exponential attrition equation. For historical reasons, the second is called a Lanchester square attrition equation in difference equation form. Some characteristics of these equations and comments on their use are as follows.

When the exponential attrition equation is used, often either it is simply postulated as being adequate, or it is said to be an appropriate approximation to some more carefully structured equation, such as one of those in Section 1. However, the equations in Section 1 are so simple that they don't need (nor can relevant applications benefit from) such an approximation. Also, this exponential equation may be a somewhat poor approximation because it may be (in a reasonable sense) always too low. Specifically, it produces attrition as low or lower than uncoordinated fire, and the use of an attrition equation that can yield even lower attrition than (completely) uncoordinated fire would seem to require strong justification, not just an arbitrary claim that it is adequate. (Relationships concerning the relative sizes of the attrition produced by these equations are postulated below.)

The Lanchester square attrition equation in differential equation form may be appropriate in several situations (see, for example, Reference [12] of the text). However, in difference equation form (with relatively large time steps), the attrition produced by a Lanchester square equation may be too high in that it is always at least as high as that produced by coordinated fire (and by shoot-look-shoot fire), and it can be even higher. The use of an attrition equation that never yields attrition lower than either coordinated fire or perfect shoot-look-shoot fire, and can yield attrition higher than both, would also seem to require strong justification, not just the citing of previous claims that it is appropriate.

Some postulated relationships among the results produced by these equations for a one-sided attrition assessment with integral numbers of shooters and targets are given below. It should not be difficult to prove the validity of these relationships for integral s and t. (Establishing any corresponding relationships for multiple time periods, with attrition being suffered by both sides over these time periods, may be considerably more difficult.) Let  $\Delta t_e^p$  and  $\Delta t_i^p$  be as defined in Section 1, and let  $\Delta t_s^p$  denote the corresponding attrition that would result from perfect shoot-look-shoot fire as defined in References [8] and [14] of the text.

General Inequalities:

$$\Delta t_{e}^{p} \leq \Delta t_{u}^{p} \leq \Delta t_{c}^{p} \leq \Delta t_{s}^{p} \leq \Delta t_{t}^{p}.$$

Strict Inequalities:

If p > 0,  $s \ge 1$ , and  $t \ge 1$ , then

$$\Delta t_e^p \, < \, \Delta t_u^p \; .$$

If p > 0,  $s \ge 2$ , and  $t \ge 2$ , then

$$\Delta t_e^p < \Delta t_u^p < \Delta t_c^p.$$

If  $p \in (0,1)$ , s > t, and  $t \ge 2$ , then

$$\Delta t_{e}^{p} < \Delta t_{u}^{p} < \Delta t_{c}^{p} < \Delta t_{s}^{p} < \Delta t_{t}^{p}.$$

Of course, if  $\Delta t_e^p$  were about equal to  $\Delta t_1^p$  for a particular set of cases, then (beyond

establishing this fact) the choice of coordination assumptions and corresponding attrition equations for point fire would not be important in those cases. However, if  $\Delta t_e^p$  were significantly less than  $\Delta t_t^p$  in certain point-fire cases, then the choice of coordination assumptions and corresponding attrition equations could be quite important for analyses involving those cases.

## b. Area-Fire Versions

Generally similar comments apply to area-fire equations; but the situation is somewhat more involved, essentially for historical reasons.

Consider, for example, Lanchester equations. Logically, the Lanchester version of the area-fire equations given in Section 2 is:

	(p̈́á/g)st	t ≤ g/d	s ≤ g/(pâ)
a .	) t	t ≤ g/d	s > g/(pâ)
$\Delta t = \Delta t_1^2 = 3$	(p̈́á/d)s	t > g/d	$s \leq g/(\tilde{p}\hat{a})$
	g/d	t > g/d	s >g/(̈́pâ),

where, to avoid trivialities, the product  $\bar{p}\hat{a}$  is assumed to be strictly greater than zero throughout this section. In tabular form, this equation can be written as:

	Δt <sup>a</sup>	
	$s \leq g/(\dot{p}\hat{a})$	$s > g/(\ddot{p}\hat{a})$
t ≤ g/d	(p̈́a⁄g)st	t
t > g/d	(p̈́â/d)s	g/d

This equation, however, is not in general use. Instead, the following version of the Lanchester linear attrition equation in difference equation form has traditionally been used for modeling area fire:

$$\Delta t = \Delta t_{?}^{a} = \begin{cases} (\ddot{p}\hat{a}/g)st & s \leq g/(\ddot{p}\hat{a}) \\ t & s > g/(\ddot{p}\hat{a}). \end{cases}$$

The flaw with this equation is that  $\Delta t_2^a$  becomes arbitrarily large as t becomes large, no matter how small s is. In terms of kill-rates, this flaw also applies to the traditional version of the Lanchester linear attrition equation in differential equation form. This flaw might not be serious in an analysis that assesses attrition very few times, because possible anomalies due to large values of t and small values of s could be checked "by hand" for each such attrition assessment. However, this flaw could be quite serious in an analysis that made many attrition assessments and each assessment were not checked "by hand" for this anomaly. This could occur, for example, if many alternative cases or parametric variations were being considered or if attrition were being assessed inside of a dynamic computer model. Due to this flaw,  $\Delta t_2^a$  will not be considered further here;  $\Delta t_1^a$  is considered below.

The exponential version of the area-fire equations given in Section 2 is:

$$\Delta t = \Delta t_e^a = \begin{cases} t(1 - e^{-(\hat{p}\hat{a}/g)s}) & t \le g/d \\ (g/d) (1 - e^{-(\hat{p}\hat{a}/g)s}) & t > g/d \end{cases}$$

Keeping the assumption that  $p\hat{a} > 0$  (and that s and t are integers), the area-fire versions of the inequalities postulated above for point fire are as follows.

General Inequalities:

$$\Delta t_e^a \leq \Delta t_u^a \leq \Delta t_c^a \leq \Delta t_1^a.$$

Strict Inequalities:

If  $s \ge 1$  and  $t \ge 1$ , then

 $\Delta t_e^a < \Delta t_u^a$ .

If  $s \ge 2$  and  $t \ge 1$ , then

 $\Delta t_e^a < \Delta t_u^a < \Delta t_c^a$  .

If  $\mathbf{\ddot{p}} < 1$ ,  $\mathbf{s}\mathbf{\hat{a}} > \mathbf{g}$ , and  $t \ge 1$ , then

$$\Delta t_e^a < \Delta t_u^a < \Delta t_c^a < \Delta t_t^a$$
.

Based on these inequalities, if  $\Delta t_e^a$  were about equal to  $\Delta t_l^a$  for a particular set of cases, then (beyond establishing this fact) the choice of coordination assumptions and corresponding attrition equations for area fire would not be important in those cases. Conversely, if  $\Delta t_e^a$ 

were significantly less than  $\Delta t_l^a$  in certain area-fire cases, then the choice of coordination assumptions and corresponding attrition equations could be quite important for analyses involving those cases.

#### IDA PAPER P-2249

## HETEROGENEOUS POINT FIRE AND AREA FIRE ATTRITION PROCESSES THAT EXPLICITLY CONSIDER VARIOUS TYPES OF MUNITIONS AND LEVELS OF COORDINATION

## 125 Copies

	Copies
DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE	
Director, Capabilities Assessment Division Force Structure, Resource, and Assessment Directorate (J-8) Office of the Joint Chiefs of Staff The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301	5
Force Structure and Analysis Branch (C315) Joint Data Systems Support Center Defense Communications Agency The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301	3
Mr. Vincent P. Roske, Jr. Science and Technology Advisor Force Structure, Resource and Assessment Directorate (J-8) Office of the Joint Chiefs of Staff The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301	1
Major Roy Rice Technical Support Division Force Structure, Resource, and Assessment Directorate (J-8) Office of the Joint Chiefs of Staff The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301	1
Dr. Royce Kneece Office of the Secretary of Defense Room 1E466, The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301	1
Mr. Herbert C. Puscheck Deputy Assistant Secretary, General Purpose Programs Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense, Program Analysis and Evaluation Room 2E330, The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301	1

Mr. J.T. Holt Tactical Air Division Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense, Program Analysis and Evaluation Room 2C281, The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301	1
Mr. Keth Thorp National Defense University Fort McNair Washington, DC 20319	1
Mr. Michael L. McCurdy Headquarters of the Commander in Chief U.S. Pacific Command Camp H.M. Smith Hawaii 96861-5025	1
Defense Technical Information Service Cameron Station Alexandria, VA 22314	2
DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY	
Mr. Douglas Sizemore Office of the Deputy Under Secretary (Operations Research) Department of the Army The Pentagon Washington, DC 20310	1
Mr. John Riente Office of the Deputy Chief of Staff for Operations and Planning Department of the Army The Pentagon Washington, DC 20310	1
U.S. Army Concepts Analysis Agency	-
8120 Woodmont Ävenue Bethesda, Maryland 20814-2797 Attn: Wally Chandler John Shepherd Glen Stockton George Stoll John Warren Howard Whitley	6
Dr. Robert LaRocque TRADOC	
Fort Leavenworth, Kansas 66027	1

Dr. Hugh McCoy TRADOC White Sands Missile Range, NM 88002	1
Director, Center for Strategic War Gaming U.S. Army War College Carisle Barracks Carisle, PA 17013-5050	1
Director, Operations Research Center U.S. Military Academy West Point, NY 10996	1
Mr. Jagdish Chandra Director Mathematical Sciences Division Department of the Army Army Research Office P.O. Box 12211 Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-2211	1
DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY	
Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, California 93943-5000 Attn: Professor Alan Washburn Professor Sam Perry Professor James Taylor	3
Director Naval Research Laboratory Washington, DC 20375	1
Director, War Gaming Department Naval War College Newport, RI 02840	1
Director, War Gaming Stop 7E U.S. Naval Academy Annapolis, MD 21402	1
DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE	-
Mr. Clayton Thomas Chief Scientist Office of the Assistant Chief of the Staff for Studies and Analysis Depart of the Air Force The Pentagon	
Washington, DC 20330	1

Air Force War Gaming Center	
Air University	
Maxwell AFB, Alabama 36112	1
Air Force Institute of Technology	_
Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio 45433	1
Atur: AFII/ENS	
Director of Research	
US Air Force Academy	
Colorado Springs, CO 80840	1
INTERNATIONAL/FOREIGN ORGANIZATIONS	
Director	
Shape Technical Center	
APÔ New York 09159	1
Director	
Defence Operations Analysis Establishment	
Ministry of Defence	
Parvis Road	
West Byfleet, Surrey, KT 146 LY, England	1
Industrieanlagen-Betriebsgesellschaft m.b.H.	
D 8012 Ottobrunn	
Federal Republic of Germany	
Attn: Mr. Klaus Niemeyer	I
University of the Federal Armed Forces	
Auenstr 44	
D 8012 Ottobrunn-Remerling	1
Attn: Dr. Reiner K. Huber	1
CEMA-Center for Military Analyses	
POB 2250 (17)	
31021 Haifa	
Israel	2
Attn: Dr. Moshe Kress	
Dr. Itznak Ravid	
Korea Institute for Defense Analyses	
C.P.O. Box 3089	-
Attn: Library	I
Operations Analysis Group	
Combined Forces Command	•
Attn: Mr. Michael A. Alexander	I

.

# INDIVIDUALS/INDUSTRIAL OGRANIZATIONS

ANSER Crystal Gateway 3 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway Arlington, Virginia 22202 Attn: Paul McCoy Raymond Smeeth	2
Mr. Peter Campbell Advanced Computer Applications Center Argonne National Laboratory 9700 South Cass Avenue Argonne, IL 60439-4832	1
Professor Stephen D. Casey Department of Mathematics and Statistics The American University 4400 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20016	1
Dr. Jerome Bracken P.O. Box 151048 Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815	1
Dr. Joshua Epstein The Brookings Institution 1775 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20036	1
California Institute of Technology Jet Propulsion Laboratory 4800 Oak Grove Drive Pasadena, California 91103 Attn: Library	1
Mr. Daniel H. Wagner Associates, Inc Station Square One Paoli, PA 19301	1
Professor Murray Berkowitz George Mason University 4400 University Drive Fairfax, Virginia	1
Department of Operations Research School of Engineering and Applied Science George Washington University Washington, DC 20052 Attn: Professor Richard M. Soland Professor James E. Falk	2

Department of Mathematics George Washington University Washington, DC 20052 1 Attn: Professor Lester Ingber Director Georgia Tech Research Institute **Research Security Department** 1 Atlanta, GA 30332-0800 Mr. Ian Graham Box 3081 Yale Station 1 New Haven, Conn 06520 Timothy J. Horrigan Horigan Analytics 1460 North Sandberg Terrace, Suite 1001 1 Chicago, IL 60610 Hudson Institute, Inc Center for Naval Analyses P.O. Box 16268 1 Alexandria, Virginia 22302-0268 Attn: Library The Johns Hopkins University Applied Physics Laboratory Johns Hopkins Road 1 Laurel, MD 20810 Attn: Library Professor Alan F. Karr School of Engineering Room 120, New Engineering Bldg. The Johns Hopkins University Charles and 34th Streets Baltimore, MD 21218 Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory University of California Livermore, California 94550-0622 2 Attn: Stanley A. Erickson Ralph Toms Charles H. Brown McDonnell Douglas 1000 Wilson Blvd, Suite 911 1 Arlington, Virginia 22209

Los Alamos National Laboratory Mail Stop F602 Los Alamos, New Mexico 87545 Attn: Dr. Linda K. Trocki

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Dr. Ray Jakobovits Metron, Inc 1485 Chain Bridge Road McLean, Virginia 22102

Oak Ridge National Laboratory Oak Ridge Tennessee 37831 Attn: V. Protopopescu

Dr. Ivar Oswalt 1031 West B. Street Apartment 22 Ontario, California 91762

The RAND Corporation P.O. Box 2138 Santa Monica, California 90406-2138 Attn: Library

The RAND Corporation 2100 M. Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20037 Attn: Library

Raymond Heath Organization 9012 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Mr. Barry Smernoff P.O. Box 3136 Oakton, Virginia 22124

Mr. Anthony F. Quattromani SYSCON Corporation, Suite 300 1000 Thomas Jefferson Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20007

W. Leon Goodson STR Corporation 10805 Parkridge Blvd Reston, Virginia 22091 Dr. William Lesso Department of Mechanical Engineering University of Texas Austin, TX 78712

Dr. Peter F. Stiller Mathematics Department Texas A&M University Bryan, TX 77805

Professor Stephen M. Robinson Department of Industrial Engineering University of Wisconsin-Madison 1513 University Avenue Madison, WI 53706

Dr. Seth Bonder Vector Research, Inc P.O. Box 1506 Ann Arbor, MI 48106

Institute for Defense Analyses 1801 N. Beauregard Street Alexandria, Virginia 22311 Attn: General W.Y. Smith Mr. Robert E. Roberts Dr. William J. Schultis Dr. David L. Randall Dr. Lowell Bruce Anderson Dr. Robert J. Atwell Mr. Stephen D. Biddle Dr. Peter S. Brooks Mr. John Cook Mr. Seymour J. Deitchman Dr. Dennis DeRiggi Dr. Jeffrey H. Grotte Dr. William J. Hurley Mr. Edward P. Kerlin Mr. D. Graham McBryde Dr. Frederic A. Meircort Mr. Merle L. Roberson Dr. Alan J. Rolfe Dr. Leo A. Schmidt Ms. Eleanor L. Schwartz Control and Distribution

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

13

1

1

1

1

1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1 10